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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I am Gale Brewer,

          3  Council Member for the West Side of Manhattan, and

          4  Chair of the Technology in Government Committee in

          5  the City Council.  I'm sorry to be late. It's my

          6  fault.  I am here though, with wonderful staff.

          7  Certainly Jeffrey Baker, Counsel to the Committee on

          8  Technology; Colleen Pagter, who is the Policy

          9  Analyst.  And I think there's a wonderful person who

         10  knows all about the finances over here.  And my

         11  question to you is, to say that this is a hearing to

         12  talk about oversight of Community Access Television.

         13    In New York City particularly, the City's

         14  municipal cable and broadcast.  So without further

         15  ado, I will open the hearing and state that we have

         16  a small oversight in terms of Powerpoint.  I think

         17  you know that there is a history of NYC- TV, to the

         18  credit of the City.  From years ago, the City's

         19  Charter, when it was redone in 1989, 1990, mentioned

         20  in it to develop municipal uses of cable television

         21  as being one of the goals of the City's Charter and

         22  it's mandated.

         23                 Crosswalks was the originator, for

         24  those of us who have been around for a great deal of

         25  time, and it was in existence from 1992 to 2003,
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          2  broadcasting municipal programming.  It was replaced

          3  by NYC- TV in 2003, and cultural and entertainment

          4  programming were added to the schedule.

          5                 In 2005, January, WYNE- TV and WNYE-

          6  FM radio were acquired by the City's Department of

          7  Information Technology and telecommunications, known

          8  as DoITT, and they merged with NYC- TV. And cultural

          9  entertainment programming to some extent, were moved

         10  to channel 25.

         11                 The NYC Media Group was created as a

         12  partner and a part of DOITT in 2004, to oversee the

         13  City's media assets.  The Media Group oversees

         14  broadcast television station WNYE- TV, which we'll

         15  hear more about.  It's also known as Channel 25; and

         16  one broadcast radio station, WNYE 91.4 FM; and then

         17  the five cable television channels 71, 73, 74, 75,

         18  and 93.

         19                 NYC- TV has a signature theme,

         20  Everything New York, and the programming ranges from

         21  fashion, music, history, and landmarks.  We'll talk

         22  more about that later.  Much of it is entertainment

         23  related, and I think that's something that we will

         24  be discussing.

         25                 You'll see a chart here, which
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          2  outlines the entertainment according to our

          3  discussions, is 63 percent; cooking, 14 percent;

          4  news, 11 percent; talk, two percent; children, eight

          5  percent; and educational, two percent.

          6                 Other NYC channels include 71, and

          7  this is programmed primarily, although not

          8  exclusively, I think, by the New York City Off-

          9  Track Betting Association, and it has live feed.

         10  Channel 73 is dedicated to community scene

         11  programming, and OTB. And 74 is what many of us

         12  watch, and what we'll be focusing on it is the

         13  coverage of government, City Council, Mayor, City

         14  Planning Commission, and other government functions.

         15    City Drive Live, which I think is 93, provides

         16  local travellers with live coverage on travel on our

         17  roadways.  It's provided, I think, through the

         18  Department of Transportation Network, which I've

         19  actually seen in Long Island City.

         20                 CUNY- TV 75 is the channel of the

         21  City University of New York.  I actually have great

         22  respect for how they do their programming.  WNYE

         23  91.5 FM, it's the radio, and it has different radio

         24  shows.  I think it's in the transition period.

         25                 There are some questions that we'll
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          2  have today.  Is the NYC Media Group meeting its

          3  responsibility to develop municipal uses for cable

          4  television?  Is there more that could be done to

          5  promote government services and initiatives?  What

          6  can be done to reach out to the City's immigrant

          7  population, although I know some is already being

          8  done, programming- wise.  How can coverage of City

          9  Council proceedings be improved and expanded?

         10                 So those are some of the issues that

         11  we will be addressing today.  We're very honored to

         12  have absolutely wonderful speakers.  And I think we

         13  will ask the representatives of the Mayor to come

         14  forward.  Arick, are you here?  And who else is

         15  going to be joining him?

         16                 We'd love to have you identify

         17  yourself.  I think Arick Wierson, the General

         18  Manager, NYC Media Group.  Certainly, you'll

         19  identify those with you at the table here today.

         20                 We're also joined by Bruce Lai, who

         21  is the Chief of Staff for my office.  Very

         22  knowledgeable on this topic.

         23                 Welcome, and thank you.  I'm sorry to

         24  keep you waiting.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Good
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          2  morning Chairperson Brewer, and Members of the City

          3  Council Committee on Technology in Government.  And

          4  thank you for the opportunity to testify today.  My

          5  name is Arick Wierson, and I am a Deputy

          6  Commissioner with the Department of Information

          7  Technology and Telecommunications, otherwise known

          8  as DoITT.  And the General Manager of NYC- TV.

          9  Today I will be testifying about NYC- TV on behalf

         10  of DoITT Commissioner and New York City's CIO, Paul

         11  Cosgrave.  Joining me today are two directors from

         12  executive staff, Trevor Scotland, and Matthew

         13  Tollin.

         14                 First, let me begin by saying what a

         15  wonderful opportunity it is to share with you some

         16  of the tremendously exciting and innovative things

         17  that NYC- TV is doing.  On so many levels, NYC- TV

         18  has really become the benchmark that other cities

         19  across the country, and indeed abroad, look to for

         20  both inspiration and ideas, as it applies to

         21  municipal television.  From Los Angeles to Seoul,

         22  Korea, local governments are seeking us out to find

         23  out how they too can replicate what we have created

         24  here in New York. We have come a long way in a very

         25  short period of time.  It's hard to believe that
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          2  NYC- TV is barely three years old, having launched

          3  in June of 2003.

          4                 NYC- TV was predicated on a very

          5  simple idea: That television is meant to be watched.

          6    From day one, we had a goal of connecting viewers

          7  with their City and local government.  It was a

          8  novel approach to municipal television, and with the

          9  dedication to programming that is energetic,

         10  engaging, and informative, NYC- TV succeeded in

         11  joining 311 and nyc.gov as cornerstones of a

         12  Bloomberg Administration that has made City

         13  government more accessible and transparent than

         14  ever.

         15                 In 2005, the Bloomberg Administration

         16  merged NYC- TV with the City's other television

         17  station, WNYE, which was managed at that time by the

         18  Department of Ed.  As a result, NYC- TV today

         19  oversees one broadcast television station, that's

         20  NYC- TV Channel 25, reaching approximately 7.3

         21  million households in the greater Metropolitan area,

         22  including all of New York City proper.  We also

         23  manage five New York City cable stations, and one

         24  full- power FM radio station, which is WNYE 91.5 FM.

         25                 The flagship channel, NYC- TV 25,

                                                            11

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  airs programming that features New York City

          3  lifestyle, culture, and history.  To date, it has

          4  been awarded fourteen New York Emmys, while

          5  receiving 34 nominations.  And 14 National Telly

          6  Awards.  NYC- TV's diverse array of media assets

          7  have enabled us to smartly program them, so viewers

          8  know where to turn, depending upon their area of

          9  interest. City Council hearing, like this one;

         10  Mayoral press conferences; City Planning Commission

         11  meetings; and other municipal services are cablecast

         12  on Channel 74.  City Drive Live, which is Channel 72

         13  on Cablevision, and Channel 93 on Time Warner

         14  systems, provides local drivers with 24- 7 live

         15  coverage of the City's main roadways, via the

         16  Department of Transportation's network of traffic

         17  cameras. NYC- TV Channel 73 features programming of

         18  special interest for the City's diverse immigrant

         19  communities.  Off Track Betting live feeds are

         20  broadcast on NYC- TV Channel 71, and NYC- TV Channel

         21  75 is programmed by the City University of New York.

         22                 The merger of WNYE's broadcast

         23  television and radio assets with NYC- TV allowed

         24  Channel 74 to become the dedicated government

         25  channel, substantially increasing the number of
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          2  hours devoted to traditional municipal government

          3  programming.  In June of this year, Channel 74

          4  revamped its coverage of the Council, by now

          5  providing 66 hours of City Council event coverage

          6  every week, along with new contemporary graphics,

          7  lower- thirds, and sound effects to improve the

          8  overall viewing experience.  So far, in 2006 alone,

          9  Channel 74 has covered over 350 City Council

         10  hearings, forums, and press conferences.  And we

         11  continue to welcome any feedback the Council may

         12  have on this new and improved format by which New

         13  York City government is brought to its constituents.

         14                 I am especially proud of an

         15  initiative we undertook in the Fall of 2005, called

         16  the Video Voter Guide.  Much as we have in other

         17  areas in which NYC- TV operates, here too, we set a

         18  new standard for how cities across America can

         19  leverage their media assets to inform, and educate

         20  viewers about their voting choices prior to local

         21  elections.  With the Video Voter Guide, NYC- TV

         22  created a nonpartisan, educational resource for

         23  voters, featuring candidates for the offices of

         24  Mayor, Public Advocate, Comptroller, Borough

         25  President, and City Council Member.  The Video Voter
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          2  Guide is designed to provide New Yorker with

          3  profiles of candidates to help them make more

          4  informed decisions in the voting booth.  All

          5  candidates for these offices were offered an

          6  opportunity to tape brief statements that aired

          7  regularly throughout the weeks leading up to both

          8  the Primary and General Elections.  Airing on NYC-

          9  TV Channel 74, the Guide reached all of the nearly

         10  two million cable households in the City's five

         11  boroughs.  And used maps to help viewers locate

         12  their neighborhoods, and identify their Council

         13  Districts.  The Video Voter Guide was also made

         14  available on- demand on NCY.gov., with the footage

         15  also distributed to third- party broadcasters, which

         16  were able to transmit the cablecast free of charge.

         17     All in an effort to expand coverage.  I should

         18  also add that in distributing the Video Voter Guide,

         19  NYC- TV also partnered with Google Video to increase

         20  the distribution of the candidates statements.

         21                 Speaking of innovation, much has been

         22  made of NYC TV's innovative approach toward

         23  partnering and opening new channels of distribution.

         24    And I would like to briefly highlight two of the

         25  more important deals we have recently announced,
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          2  both of which will bring NYC- TV's renowned original

          3  programming, and by extension, many of the wonderful

          4  things New York City has to offer, to new and varied

          5  audiences across the region and country.

          6                 First, NYT- TV and WNBC have reached

          7  an agreement in which NYC- TV contents will air on

          8  WNBC Channel 4, here in New York. The programming

          9  block, branded NYC- TV on NBC began on September

         10  4th, and runs Monday through Friday, 11 am to noon.

         11  Starting next week, NYC- TV content will be also air

         12  two hours a day on WNBC's newly launched digital

         13  broadcast channel, WNBC 4.4.  As a result of this

         14  agreement, a greater number of viewers across the

         15  New York region, the Caribbean, and elsewhere in the

         16  United States, will be able to tune in and watch

         17  episodes of its New York Emmy- award winning

         18  programming, such as $9.99; Blueprint NYC; Cool in

         19  Your Code; Eat out New York; New York 360; and

         20  Secrets of New York.

         21                 Also as part of the agreement, the

         22  City will receive approximately four minutes of

         23  commercial time per hour, to air advertisements,

         24  different portions of which will be used to run

         25  public service announcements, promote NYC- TV
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          2  programming, and generate revenue.  As you know,

          3  NYC- TV programming promotes local attractions,

          4  businesses, and cultural institutions.  It is in

          5  this way that NYC- TV's role as an engine of

          6  economic development for the City becomes readily

          7  apparent.  Small businesses, museums, and other

          8  local attractions featured on NYC- TV often see

          9  dramatic increases in visitors and patronage after

         10  appearing on NYC- TV, and the additional exposure on

         11  NBC Channel 4 is only building on this exposure.

         12                 Also, in another historic

         13  arrangement, NYC- TV is distributing a set of

         14  episodes from our hit series, Secrets of New York,

         15  to PBS stations around the country, making this

         16  popular show NYC- TV's first nationally syndicated

         17  program.  The agreement will bring NYC- TV's award-

         18  winning programming to a national audience, and in

         19  doing so, will promote New York City as a tourism

         20  destination.  As a result of this deal, viewers in

         21  eight of the country's ten largest television

         22  markets  --  that's Los Angeles, Chicago,

         23  Philadelphia, San Francisco, Dallas- Fort Worth,

         24  Washington, D.C., Houston, and of course, New York

         25   --  will get to enjoy NYC- TV's original
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          2  programming.  In total, stations serving more than

          3  94 percent of the U.S. TV households will now be

          4  able to enjoy this fast- paced, historically- rich

          5  documentary program.

          6                 Finally, as successful as we've been

          7  in developing and enhancing our original

          8  programming, I could not conclude without mentioning

          9  the key role NYC- TV plays beyond educating and

         10  informing viewers about New York.  NYC- TV is a

         11  vital part of the City's emergency public

         12  communication systems.  From key locations

         13  throughout the City, NYC- TV is able to not only

         14  broadcast live on its own stations, but also share

         15  video and audio with television and radio stations

         16  around the City and the country to help disseminate

         17  critical information.  In instances such as the

         18  illegal transit strike in December of 2005, various

         19  terror threat- related press conferences, and the

         20  recent anthrax scare this past February, our

         21  emergency communication system has proven invaluable

         22  in quickly providing vital information to New

         23  Yorkers.

         24                 So what's next for NYC- TV?  Well, a

         25  lot, but among the most immediate areas we are
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          2  focusing on is our transition to digital television,

          3  as mandated by the FCC, or the Federal

          4  Communications Commission.  Some of you may have

          5  noticed that we began multi- casting City Drive Live

          6  on NYC- TV Channel 25.2 in June. Most recently, I am

          7  pleased to share with you, that NYC- TV has received

          8  a grant from the CPB, or the Corporation for Public

          9  Broadcasting, which will provide NYC- TV with the

         10  funding necessary to support the operation of, and

         11  upgrades to, its full- power digital transmitter,

         12  transmission line, antenna, and related equipment at

         13  its transmission facility, which serves the entire

         14  New York Metropolitan area.

         15                 We continue to aggressively pursue

         16  grant monies from many sources to aid both in this

         17  conversion, and for other initiatives central to

         18  NYC- TV's mission.

         19                 In closing, NYC- TV has been

         20  successful in proving that municipal television can

         21  generate broad- based appeal.  We have broken new

         22  ground in programming and viewership with original

         23  content that resonates with New Yorkers, as well as

         24  television viewers across the country and beyond.

         25  NYC- TV is a postcard for the City.  By successfully
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          2  highlighting many of the City's world class

          3  attributes, such as its parks, libraries, public

          4  facilities, varied neighborhoods, parades, and other

          5  cultural happenings, NYC TV has emerged as one of

          6  the region's fastest- growing television networks.

          7  And Channel 25's prime- time audience currently

          8  averages well over 100,000 viewers during its

          9  nightly prime- time broadcasts. In the end, this

         10  amounts to more people appreciating and learning

         11  about their City, as well as better understanding

         12  the role local government plays in managing it.  We

         13  at NYC- TV remain committed to retaining its status

         14  as a media organization worthy of the greatest city

         15  in earth.  And as ever, we welcome your comments and

         16  ideas about how we can make NYC- TV even better

         17  still.

         18                 Thank you again for the opportunity

         19  to testify today.  We will now be happy to address

         20  any questions you may have.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 We also have been joined by Council

         24  Member Oliver Koppell, from the Bronx, Chair of the

         25  Mental Health Committee. Thank you Council Member.

                                                            19

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 First of all, I want to congratulate

          3  you, because I know that across the City, people are

          4  watching, and people are very excited about what

          5  NYC- TV is doing.  I think certainly, we also

          6  appreciate the better banners and the way in which

          7  the City Council meetings are presented, because

          8  that certainly part of what the Charter mandates is,

          9  is that we have as much public government

         10  programming as possible.  I think that's why we have

         11  the PEG channels.

         12                 My question  --  just to ask a couple

         13  of questions, and Council Member Koppell, feel free

         14  to jump in.  I do want to know what the NYC Media

         15  Group's budget is.  I know that it's part of the

         16  contract franchise with some of the cable companies,

         17  and there are probably other ways in which

         18  programming funding is allocated to NYC.  But I was

         19  just wondering if you could be more specific in

         20  terms of your budget.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Thank

         22  you.  We have  -- for a relatively small

         23  organization, we have a fairly complex budget.  But

         24  I think in sentences, it's fair to say that we have

         25  about an operating budget of about $6 million, just
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          2  shy of $6 million, about a third of which is offset

          3  by revenues.  So in terms of the tax levy grants,

          4  and other portions related to the City funding, it's

          5  about $6 million, about a third of which is offset

          6  by revenue such as leased- time programs on Channel

          7  73, CPB grants, and revenues from programmers on 25

          8  and on the FM station.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  And some

         10  of that  -- when you say "revenue" would be from

         11  sponsorships?  Obviously, you can't do straight

         12  advertising, but I think you can do sponsorships. Is

         13  that where some of the third comes from?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes,

         15  that's correct.

         16  Matthew, if you want to elaborate on that a little

         17  bit.

         18                 MR. TOLLIN: Yes, we get underwriting

         19  money  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Introduce

         21  yourself again.

         22                 MR. TOLLIN: Oh.  I'm Matthew Tollin.

         23  I'm with NYC TV.

         24                 I just want to say good morning to

         25  the Committee, and actually, it's a distinct

                                                            21

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  pleasure for me to be here.  As Council Member

          3  Brewer knows, I used to be on the other side.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Welcome.

          5                 MR. TOLLIN: Thanks.

          6                 We get sponsorships for various

          7  shows, particularly on Channel 25, which is a

          8  noncommercial licensee.  There is some advertising

          9  that can run on the PEG stations, and there is some

         10  that runs on Channel 7, the lease- time station.  So

         11  even though they're noncommercial stations, there is

         12  some case law that indicates that you can run

         13  commercials.  But for the  --  we don't, and then we

         14  get all of our advertising revenue from

         15  sponsorships. In addition to the grants and the

         16  other sources that Arick  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  So just my

         18  ignorance, so that when the for instance, military

         19  or other programs that obviously produced elsewhere,

         20  so when they're shown, that is a free service in a

         21  sense, that we're providing for the public.

         22                 MR. TOLLIN: For some of the services,

         23  there are varying scales.  There are some, for lack

         24  of a better term, lease time programmers, who pay an

         25  hourly rate.  They're really just reimbursing the
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          2  City for the cost of broadcasting them.  The City

          3  doesn't really make any money off of it, but they'll

          4  pay a rate that covers their cost of being on the

          5  air.

          6                 There is some other programming

          7  that's deemed appropriate, whether it's New York

          8  specific, or it's educational in some way, or we get

          9  it from a third- party programmer, like something

         10  analogous to the PBS distribution system.  And those

         11  things do not pay.  We would run them for free,

         12  because the content is something that is educational

         13  and appropriate.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  In terms

         15  of Off Track Betting, I would assume that would be

         16  part of the revenue.  And is that on two PEG

         17  stations?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes.

         19  The way that the budget has been set up, it's

         20  actually not part of the revenue budget.  It's

         21  actually  --  it's the inter- City thing.  I guess,

         22  you know, to get the details of that, I'd refer you

         23  back to the DoITT Budget Office.  But it's not part

         24  of the revenue budget.

         25                 And the second part of your question
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          2  is, is it run on two stations?  It runs 24- 7 on

          3  Channel 71, and for a portion of the time, but not

          4  all the time, it runs on Channel 73 as well.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right.  And of

          6  course, you know, I  --  because the issue is, is of

          7  course, in the Charter, I think it says that  --

          8  and I don't know if this applies across the board,

          9  so that's what I'm going to ask.  Channels under the

         10  Charter are designated for government use, and also,

         11  the franchise provides that he interconnection

         12  necessary to allow the cablecasting of the public

         13  proceedings of the Committees and the City Planning.

         14    So that would be Channel 74.  And it also  --  but

         15  it talks a lot about channels be designated for

         16  government use.  And I'm just wondering, is OTB part

         17  of that?  Or is that allowed because it's on a

         18  separate channel?  It is hard for the public to

         19  understand, how OTB is in fact, an educational or

         20  public use.  And I understand that this has always

         21  been  --  has been discussed in the past, but I just

         22  wanted to have a further discussion about it.

         23  Because it is a municipally- owned station.  Maybe

         24  it's a revenue enhancer.  But from what you're

         25  saying, it sounds more like it's a you know, making
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          2  sure that your costs are covered.  Go ahead.

          3                 MR. TOLLIN: I'll take the question.

          4  There are various rationales for putting it on.  As

          5  you know, PEG stands for Public, Educational, and

          6  Governmental use.  It would certainly fall under the

          7  governmental use.  In fact, public would be the

          8  public access channels, so those are the channels

          9  that we don't even run.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Are those the MNN

         11  et cetera.

         12                 MR. TOLLIN: Exactly.  And those are

         13  actually private nonprofit institutions.  So we do

         14  the educational and governmental, and OTB being

         15  another governmental entity, it simply is a benefit

         16  to them to have their product out there.  It's been

         17  a relationship we've had for years.  And it helps

         18  out another City agency.  And it helps out DoITT,

         19  because we share in the revenues that come in.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  I think

         21  that will be an ongoing discussion, but I appreciate

         22  the answer.

         23                 In terms of Channel 25, which is a

         24  new part of your --  of NYC- TV, I was just

         25  wondering why this particular audience has been
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          2  targeted, which is a large audience.  Your credit

          3  obviously goes up around the Tri- State area, and I

          4  was just wondering about the overall strategy for

          5  Channel 25, how it was determined.  Because  --  and

          6  also how it was  --  I think it was given a license

          7  by the FCC to aim an educational content.  And I was

          8  just wondering if the shows that you listed, which

          9  are certainly of interest to people, but are they

         10   --  do they include enough educational content to

         11  meet the mandates of the license given to you by the

         12  FCC?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: I think

         14  that's a great question.  And I think that by and

         15  large, everything that we do, whether we produce it

         16  in house, or some of the programmers we bring to the

         17  channel through different arrangements, are clearly

         18  consistent with that mandate.  You know, all of our

         19  shows  --  we don't do, you know, dramas.  We don't

         20  do comedies.  We don't do things of that nature.

         21  Everything is what we call, you know, lifestyle

         22  entertainment, documentaries, things of that nature.

         23    So everything is teaching New Yorkers about their

         24  City.  It's engaging them.  It's showing them about

         25  new neighborhoods.  It's showing them how to spend a
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          2  day in the City for under $10 a day.  Which a lot of

          3  people would find educational.  We have shows that

          4  teach about New York City history.  So in that

          5  sense, we feel that you know, our focus is highly

          6  educational.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: All right.  I

          8  appreciate that. I know that if you look at a pie

          9  chart  --  again, this is an example from us, so it

         10  may not be your version  --  but entertainment is 63

         11  percent; cooking, 14 percent; news, 11 percent;

         12  talk, two percent; children, eight percent; and

         13  education, two percent.  And I guess from a pretty

         14  acute attuned viewer, and I do watch all of your

         15  programming, it does seem to me that there's a lot

         16  of what I would call more entertainment, that could

         17  in fact, be found on other channels.  I know it's

         18  difficult to make what I would consider education or

         19  government interesting.  It is not  -- it's a

         20  challenge.  And you obviously have a larger

         21  viewship.  But is it possible that you would also

         22  look at this as a place in which entertainment could

         23  also include you know, Council Member Koppell

         24  talking about his neighborhood in the Bronx?  Or

         25  doing things that talk more about our neighborhoods
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          2  as opposed to the what I consider more of a

          3  understanding,  --  I want to see the different

          4  restaurants in our neighborhoods.  I want to see

          5  also of course, what's going on that's behind the

          6  economic development of that neighborhood.  Why you

          7  know, this manufacturing as opposed to a retail for

          8  instance.  All the kinds of things that make up our

          9  neighborhood.  Or even what goes on in terms of the

         10  daily life of planning for schools and education.

         11  Controversial topics.  That to me is more education.

         12    Now how you make that interesting is a challenge.

         13  And it may be a revenue issue.

         14                 But I'm just wondering  --  when I

         15  hear that you have a license from FCC to do

         16  education content, I think I have a different

         17  version of that.  So I'm just wondering if you could

         18  respond and see if you have internally, thought

         19  about ways of trying to do something that's an even

         20  bigger challenge?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes, I

         22  think the first point is that we certainly don't see

         23  entertaining content and educational content as

         24  mutually exclusive concepts.  I think that the best

         25  type of educational content is the educational
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          2  content that also engages and entertains.  And I

          3  think that that is basically one of the hallmarks of

          4  what we've been able to achieve. It's one of the

          5  reasons, I think, that our programming you know, did

          6  resonate, and is creating such broad- based support.

          7                 I guess I'd like maybe Matthew to

          8  answer your specific question in regards to sort of

          9  our FCC license.

         10                 MR. TOLLIN: Yes, just to build on

         11  that a little bit. The license is technically a

         12  noncommercial license, and you know, I can't quote

         13  the exact sections, but it dates back to the

         14  Communications Act of 1934, and the Public Broadcast

         15  Act under that.  And the mandate for the

         16  educational, cultural, and then the third prong that

         17  I'm not remembering.  So it's a little bit broader

         18  than that.  And we probably do tackle the cultural

         19  component a little bit more.  Although we still do a

         20  lot of educational program, and I agree with Arick,

         21  that sometimes it's a slippery slope as to where

         22  exactly you would draw that distinction.

         23                 I know that we've veered away from

         24  certain things, like science programming, for

         25  instance, because you have NET in the area on
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          2  Channel 13.  You have LIW on Channel 21.  And you

          3  have NJN on Channel 55, that carries a lot of

          4  traditional PBS fare, like Nova, and various shows

          5  like that.  And I think there was a very volitional

          6  decision made that that market is saturated, so to

          7  speak.  So the educational stuff that we're going to

          8  do is Everything About New York.  You know, anything

          9  that you want to know about New York.  So a show

         10  like Cool in Your Code will take you all around the

         11  five boroughs, you know, showing various not only

         12  places to hang out, but cultural institutions,

         13  museums, art displays and anything in various areas.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  How are

         15  things like the programming selected?  How are the

         16  Cool in Your Code cultural selected?  And I guess I

         17  understand, because we've had a lot of discussions

         18  about this.  I know you're airing the professional

         19  soccer match between two Italian teams on Sunday at

         20  11.  And I guess that's part of the cultural aspect.

         21    But it's certainly not part of the educational

         22  aspect.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes.  I

         24  think if we step back to the early days of NYC- TV,

         25  when we were still figuring out, and thinking about,
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          2  you know, really what did we want to accomplish

          3  here?  I think, you know, we thought about New York

          4  City as a mosaic.  It's a mosaic of neighborhoods,

          5  of restaurants, of people, of history, of culture.

          6  And we thought, you know, we're going  --  in terms

          7  of making programming and creating programming, or

          8  partnering to acquire programming, we wanted to fill

          9  out those different boxes in that matrix.  We wanted

         10  to  --  you know, we needed a historical program.

         11  We wanted things that really delve into the history

         12  of the City.  We wanted shows that highlighted, you

         13  know, the tremendously diverse neighborhoods across

         14  the City. Not just you know  --  although Manhattan

         15  is important, but also the outer boroughs, which is

         16  something that you know, I think a lot of times when

         17  you think about New York City, you don't really

         18  think about the outer boroughs.

         19                 We also wanted programming that was

         20  going to highlight, you know, cultural celebrations.

         21    I mean, I think New York City is the parade

         22  capital you know, of the world, and so we wanted to

         23  have a show that you know, dedicated to parades.  So

         24  I think that in terms of figuring out the

         25  programming, we really thought about what are the
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          2  quintessential items about New York that not only

          3  New Yorkers, but people across the country don't

          4  really sort of understand or appreciate as much as

          5  they could.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: All right.  And I

          7  appreciate that.  I guess you know, my concern is

          8  that some of these issue you know, Time Out airs

          9  restaurant reviews on demand, on Time Warner Cable.

         10  I would say we have the Travel Network, the Food

         11  Network, and I think what we don't have in our City

         12  is the more in depth, slower  --  because I think

         13  it's incredibly important to have flashy

         14  programming.  That's what develops a new audience.

         15  I understand that.  But also, what goes behind the

         16  scenes in terms of our institutions, cultural and

         17  education.  And people not just talking heads, but

         18  slowly getting into the controversy behind some of

         19  what makes our City wonderful.

         20                 And I guess that's what I'm feeling

         21  that we're missing.  And maybe it's because I'm a

         22  little old fashioned.  Maybe it's because I am not a

         23  C- Span addict, but I could be, if I go in that

         24  direction.  And I just think that when you have this

         25  incredible opportunity on Channel 25, and certainly
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          2  increasingly, I think, in the audience development,

          3  on some of your cable channels, the fact of the

          4  matter is that looking even more in depth at some of

          5  these issues, could provide a unique programming.

          6                 We're trying very hard, I think, to

          7  make it, as you said in your opening statement, a

          8  place where people will go.  A destination channel.

          9  And I know in order to do that, you have to have a

         10  certain kind of flash and sizzle that will mean that

         11  people will go to that channel.  As you said,

         12  television is meant to be watched.  But at the same

         13  time, you also have to bring in content that people

         14  might not find elsewhere.

         15                 And that's what's concerning me, on

         16  the education and the cultural aspects of what we're

         17  doing.  So I just think that I'm concerned about

         18  that.  And I also wonder if 25 of course being

         19  cultural educational, and not government, is there

         20  any discussion about also putting some government

         21  aspects?  Or is that not allowed on the FCC license?

         22    So I've got two questions here.

         23                 MR. SCOTLAND: Trevor Scotland,

         24  Director of Business Development for NYC- TV.  I

         25  will address the first question, specific to our
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          2  ability and interest in delving into topics that you

          3  termed as controversial.  While we might stay away

          4  from controversy, I think we do go in depth with a

          5  lot of our Interstitial content.  I'm not sure if

          6  you're familiar with out City Business Interstitial,

          7  That's So New York Interstitial, The City That Never

          8  Sleeps Interstitial.  Where we regularly look at

          9  specific events and topics that are going on in the

         10  City, and delve a little deeper, and actually try to

         11  get folks that are involved in economic development

         12  to talk about some of the projects that they're

         13  funding or a part of in the City.  And so, I think

         14  we have made an effort to address that.

         15                 Now certainly, there's an opportunity

         16  for us to look at that in a more programmatic way,

         17  but I think we have actually spent a good number of

         18  hours and production time looking at topics that

         19  affect the City, across a variety of areas.  Both

         20  economically and socially, with our content.  And

         21  so, I would argue that we have spent some time doing

         22  that.  It may not be controversial.  I mean,

         23  sometimes, I think it may actually avoid

         24  controversy.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I think you do.
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          2  I agree with that.

          3                 MR. SCOTLAND: But I think we have

          4  made an effort to address that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: All right.  In

          6  terms of the fact that obviously, education is part

          7  of the PEG, we have, as you know better than I, over

          8  a million school children in the City of New York,

          9  and I was just wondering, are you coordinating any

         10  of your programming with the Department of

         11  Education?  That's question number one.  And second,

         12  obviously, we have many languages in this City, and

         13  I was just wondering in terms of content, what you

         14  are doing in terms of different language content?  I

         15  know you are doing programming along those lines.

         16  So there's two questions there.

         17                 We've also been joined by Council

         18  Member Letitia James, from Brooklyn.  Thank you.

         19                 MR. TOLLIN: I'll take both questions.

         20    I deal with most of the external programming,

         21  anything outside of the original program.  We do do

         22  several Department of Ed. Shows, and have actually

         23  inherited them since Channel 25 used to reside with

         24  the Department of Ed., and the Board of Ed. Before

         25  that.  So various shows from the  --  Homework
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          2  Hotline, Teen Talk.  Teen Talk is an internship

          3  program, it has students throughout the whole City

          4  that come and produce the shows.  Various local

          5  educational boards that produce shows, which we have

          6  now put on the government channel, on Channel 74.

          7  So there are various educational shows that are

          8  either explicitly linked to DOE, or just look in

          9  that genre.

         10                 As far as language programming,

         11  historically, we've been the point of contact with

         12  various immigrant communities around the City, and

         13  the only point of contact within the media at least.

         14  So for  --  one good instance is Croatian Radio.  As

         15  far as I know, there's no other outlet for Croatian

         16  broadcast in the City, and for that reason, it's a

         17  very highly- rated radio program of ours.

         18                 I could run through a long  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Try to change it,

         20  you'll be in trouble.  Go ahead.

         21                 MR. TOLLIN: A lot of trouble.  And

         22  that became very clear years ago.  And then on

         23  Channel 73, we run Sinovision, which is probably the

         24  most popular programming for the Chinese community

         25  in New York City.  We run CIN, Caribbean
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          2  International Programming. And then there's a

          3  laundry list.  Humsafar, for South Asian

          4  programming.  Nipon for Japanese programming.  So

          5  we've hit various niches in the various immigrant

          6  linguistic communities around the City.  And we

          7  really are known as the point of contact not only

          8  for government, but just for media and general

          9  issues that are relevant to those communities.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  Would

         11  you for instance, be able to do simulcast

         12  translations, as other broadcasts do for government?

         13    In other words, if you're watching the Mayor's

         14  press conference, you're watching the City Council,

         15  would you be able, as obviously, the commercial

         16  channels do, to do some kind of translation?

         17                 MR. TOLLIN: I personally think that

         18  that's a very good idea.  I know there would

         19  probably be an enormous expense that went along with

         20  that, whether you had  --  whether you outsourced

         21  the translation services, or had in- staff people

         22  that spoke the various languages.  But it sounds

         23  like a reasonable  --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Right.

         25  And I think that in certain instances, we have
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          2  explored that, and I think Matthew is actually very

          3  right on the money in terms of it is  -- does cost a

          4  lot of money.  We did that  --  something with

          5  regards to that, the Video Voter Guide.  And it was

          6  great, but it was very costly.  And laborious.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Something to

          8  consider.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Many of the

         11  elected officials, I know on their  --  either in

         12  the Bronx or Brooklyn or Manhattan, the paid

         13  channels, Manhattan Neighborhood Network, or

         14  BRONXNET et cetera have shows.  And is there

         15  possibility, like they do in other cities, of

         16  elected officials of all kinds in the City of New

         17  York, having shows on any of your channels?

         18  Obviously, the notion would be to you know,

         19  something more creative, call- in et cetera.  There

         20  are lots of ways of producing them.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: As I

         22  said in my testimony, we're open to suggestions, and

         23  if you had some ideas, or if any of your colleagues

         24  on the City Council have ideas, we'd be more than

         25  happy to talk to you about them.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  I have

          3  another, budget question that Andy Grossman probably

          4  would have thought of.  Right. And the question is,

          5  when you have your relationship with NBC, which is

          6  very impressive, is there a revenue enhancement from

          7  that? Or is that something that is done just as part

          8  of programming?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: As part

         10  of the agreement, the syndication agreement with

         11  NBC, we are granted a portion of inventory on NBC.

         12  So we get half of the commercial inventory available

         13  on NBC that we actually sell in the marketplace.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So that would be

         15  during your time slot?  Is that what  --

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes,

         17  from 11 to noon.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  So that's

         19  how it works. So that's part of your one- third of

         20  your budget being revenue.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  How do you

         23  decide which government programs?  Obviously, in the

         24  Charter, it talks about the Council and the City

         25  Planning Commission, I believe.  How do you decide
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          2  which other Committees?  There are a million  --

          3  not a million, there are many Commissions and

          4  Committees in the City of New York.  Obviously

          5  yesterday, the IDA was quite controversial, I

          6  believe.  As a topic.  How would you select these

          7  different Commissions?  Obviously you have one

          8  government channel.  I, of course, wish that all of

          9  the channels were government, but understandably,

         10  it's just one.  How do you select?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: We have

         12  an individual on our staff that liaised with the

         13  City Council, you know, with the Mayor's press

         14  people, with the press people and communications

         15  people with the City Planning Commission, and

         16  elsewhere.  And you know, we basically present, you

         17  know, what our resource availabilities are.  And we

         18  basically let you know, the appropriate Members, you

         19  know, in the City Council, for example, decide you

         20  know, what it is that's most important, given the

         21  available resources.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And within the

         23  Administration, you have different Commissions.  How

         24  do you make those decisions?

         25  I mean, you have different Commissions to be
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          2  covered.  There are too many.  Taxi and Limousine,

          3   --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Right.

          5  Well for example, today we actually are covering a

          6  number of events across the City, including a TLC

          7  Commission hearing.  We don't cover them all the

          8  time.  I wish we could cover them all the time.  But

          9  as I said, it's always a resource question.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: In terms of

         11  educational institutions.  We talked about the

         12  Department of Education.  CUNY TV a little bit.

         13  There are, of course, many studios, many

         14  opportunities for partnerships with some of the

         15  other educational --  higher educational

         16  institutions in the City of New York.  A lot of

         17  expertise.  Do you partner with any of them?  Do you

         18  partner with CUNY?  Or is it just regarding their

         19  own channel?  There's a lot of expertise out there

         20  in all of our universities, I'm sure, in terms of

         21  broadcast journalism.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: We have

         23  partnered with several of the universities in terms

         24  of both internship programs and providing us

         25  students during the Summer.  As well as looking at
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          2  specifically providing content for some of our

          3  programming.  So in fact, we have a series called

          4   "Backdrop", where we actually work with many of the

          5  local schools, and student film makers to air their

          6  programs.  In addition to that, we have several

          7  relationships with many of the cultural institutions

          8  in the City.  So for example, the New York

          9  Historical Society, and many of the museums we

         10  regularly work with, both to promote exhibits and if

         11  you will, events that are going on, as well as to

         12  support our programming by providing us archival

         13  information.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The reason I ask

         15  is, you know, we're not Larry King.  I understand

         16  that.  But when he sits there and talks to his

         17  guests, he often takes e- mails.  Right?  And so the

         18  question is, where does that kind of discussion take

         19  place?  Is it just resource?  Or is there, again,

         20  partnerships in the City of New York, trying to

         21  bring the public more into your programs. These are

         22  the ways in which I'm thinking about partnerships.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes.  I

         24  mean, I think e- mail and just using the Internet is

         25  a way of communicating both bi- directionally and
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          2  uni- directionally is a tremendous idea.  It's

          3  something we thought about a lot.  We've actually

          4  are thinking about going one step further, and using

          5  text massaging as a way of people interacting live

          6  with things that are going on on television.  I

          7  think it's an important idea, but it's also

          8  important to figure out what's the format in which

          9  that's going to take place.  Because we don't have

         10   --  first of all, we don't have people engaged and

         11  people that are watching, you know, you're not going

         12  to have an audience, and you're going to have text

         13  massaging. It's also important when have these live

         14  things, that you have the proper controls in place,

         15  so that you know, inappropriate things don't make it

         16  to the air or you know, ideas that of that nature.

         17                 So I think you've hit on some really

         18  good points, and things worth looking at going

         19  forward.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So I assume part

         21  of that is trying to link NYC.gov and any kind of

         22  programming that's going on, if appropriate.  Is

         23  that what you're talking about, in addition?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes.  I

         25  mean, we get lots of viewer feedback, and you know,
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          2  it's anecdotal, but I don't mean that it's sparse.

          3  We get a lot of viewer feedback, and we take that

          4  into consideration.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Go ahead.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Matt,

          7  maybe you just want to share  --

          8                 MR. TOLLIN: Just a few things, and

          9  hopefully, they're not too self- aggrandizing, but

         10   -- " Just a shout to say I love NYC- TV.  I

         11  discovered it not too long ago, and really love the

         12  programming.  I lived in New York City almost my

         13  entire life, and have learned so much, especially

         14  from Secrets of New York". "Just want to let you

         15  know how much I enjoy the programming. Spotlighting

         16  your independent India artists who produce

         17  interesting videos, benefits everyone".

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I think that's

         19  terrific.  I think Simcha Felder, going through his

         20  neighborhood, would even also get you rave reviews.

         21                 In terms of National Preparedness

         22  Month, I do think --  Yes.  Exactly.  He would be

         23  terrific.  He would get even better reviews than

         24  cooking.

         25                 The National Preparedness Month, I
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          2  mean, the whole issue, I think is a good one, in

          3  terms of any kind of opportunity for discussing

          4  hopefully never again, but a crisis in New York.

          5  What do you do, not only in terms of your own

          6  broadcasting, but to work with the other paid

          7  channels?  The MNNs et cetera.  How do you

          8  coordinate with them, not only  --  because I think

          9  that they have not actually been part of this role

         10  up to now.  The fact of the matter is that in

         11  general, the issue of broadcasting on either minor

         12  emergencies or God forbid, a larger one, is

         13  something that I think all of the paid channels

         14  could play a larger role in, particularly because

         15  more people are watching them.

         16                 So my question is, just in general,

         17  do you have communication with some of the other

         18  paid channels?  And on broadcasting that might be on

         19  an emergency basis or just in general?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes.  I

         21  think that you know, our strategies with regards to

         22  emergency communications has really been predicated

         23  on the idea that we want to get information out

         24  quickly, and efficiently to the most of  --  to the

         25  highest amount of people as possible.  And to that
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          2  extent, we've developed, I think, just a fabulous

          3  resource in terms of being able to quickly

          4  disseminate any information to tall the local

          5  broadcast television stations and many of the local

          6  broadcast radio stations, some of the high- profile

          7  cable stations such as CNN.  And I think to that

          8  extent, we feel like we're really canvassing the

          9  market to the extent possible.

         10                 In terms of specifically discussing

         11  your idea with the "P" in the PEG channel, public

         12  access channels, we have not really spoken to them

         13  in any depth about that idea.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Do you

         15  communicate with them on other topics?  In other

         16  words, programming topics.  Is there any kind of

         17  communication at all?  Meetings, advisory, et

         18  cetera?  I just don't know.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: I know

         20  several of the General Managers, and so that that

         21  extent, we communicate, we talk. But you know, we

         22  don't have any  --  at this moment  --  any projects

         23  we're developing together.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  I'm just

         25  asking a little bit about the radio stations.  What
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          2  are your plans for the radio stations?  And I guess

          3  I should also ask, because I'm not so familiar, what

          4  the current programming is?  I know you talked about

          5  it in your testimony, a little bit.

          6                 MR. TOLLIN: The current programming

          7  is a melange of NPR programming, and BBC programming

          8  on the overnight.  Some lease time/cultural

          9  programming for various groups around the City, like

         10  I mentioned before, the Croatian radio.  We have not

         11  done a lot of original programming, as we've done in

         12  the TV arena.  Probably more because we don't have

         13  the bandwidth or the resources to do that in the TV

         14   --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: What is the

         16  bandwidth of the radio?

         17                 MR. TOLLIN: The station is 91.5 FM.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         19                 MR. TOLLIN: But we are very

         20  interested  --  and you know,  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: What's the cover

         22  span  --  I'm sorry  --  what is the coverage in

         23  terms of its reach?

         24                 MR. TOLLIN: The DMA license is

         25  technically the same as TV.  Maybe slightly
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          2  different around the contours, but basically the

          3  whole Tri- State area.  But for various technical

          4  reasons, we probably only reach about half of that.

          5  That's because we broadcast from Brooklyn High

          6  School, Brooklyn Tech.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I know it.

          8                 MR. TOLLIN: It's just not very high,

          9  and you just can't reach.  That's something that

         10  we're actually addressing, but it's just a huge, you

         11  know, capital expenditure to really upgrade, but we

         12  are looking at Four Times Square, the Conde Naste

         13  Building, and that would be a great primary

         14  location.  That's something that we're hoping to do.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So you would move

         16  there?  Or you would just put an antenna there?

         17                 MR. TOLLIN: Yes, you'd plug into the

         18  access base on their master antenna.  And it's

         19  something that we're considering on the TV side,

         20  because pursuant to FCC mandate, we have to get our

         21  digital television up and running.  And we expect

         22  that to happen over the next year.  So that's going

         23  to be a huge upgrade in the TV side, and we're

         24  hoping we can put it in the radio side also.

         25  Just for the reach.  You know, right now, we're
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          2  really not reaching half the area that we could.

          3  It's very patchy around the Upper West Side.  On

          4  Northern Manhattan, parts of the Bronx.  Because you

          5  know, when you're broadcasting in Brooklyn, you hit

          6  all the skyscrapers in Midtown.  It really blocks

          7  you out.

          8                 But concurrent with those technical

          9  changes, we're going to revisit changing the

         10  programming, so that we can really make it more

         11  accessible for New Yorkers, and deal with some of

         12  the things we've dealt with on the TV side.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  When

         14  Channel 25 goes digital, I assume there will be

         15  three to four more channels available.  And I'm

         16  wondering how will you be determining content,

         17  language?  Can other producers be part of that?  I

         18  mean, this is going to be a big change, and   --  Do

         19  you have some advisory board on this?  How are

         20  decisions being made?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: I think

         22  that  --  right now, we already are digitally

         23  broadcasting.  We run an FCCA mandated simulcast of

         24  our analog transmission on 25.1.  And 25.2, as I

         25  mentioned in my testimony, we just started a couple
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          2  of months ago, but we basically are taking our City

          3  Drive Live by cable feed, and repurposing it over

          4  the airwaves on 25.2.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So those are

          6  people who have a car.  Most of the people have a

          7  car.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: No.

          9  Well I think the necessary component is a digital

         10  receiver.  And then, you know, if they have a car,

         11  they'd probably be more interested than  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: That's what I'm

         13  trying to say. Keep going, there are people in.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: And I

         15  think that in terms of the other channels,

         16  obviously, there again, there's  -- I don't want to

         17  bore you with technical details, but  --  there's a

         18  necessary infrastructure that needs to support that,

         19  and so, as we look forward to enhancing and sort of

         20  our plant, we're looking to be able to expand into

         21  additional channels.  And when that becomes

         22  available, or nearly available, we will also begin

         23  to address what we can do programmatically.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  And is

         25  there an advisory board for NYC- TV?  I don't know
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          2  if it's mandated, but do you have any kind of an

          3  official advisory board?  Or you don't.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Well, we

          5  don't have an official advisory board, but I think

          6  that you know, the three of us, and others on our

          7  staff, are very active in liaising with people in

          8  the community.  Different  --  you know, we happen

          9  to be at what I like to fashion as the media capital

         10  of the world, so we get some tremendously savvy

         11  media experts, both on the radio and the TV side,

         12  and the content side, that we can talk to and give

         13  us ideas.  We work closely with the Film

         14  Commissioner, Catherine Oliver, and she gives us a

         15  lot of insights and her contacts.  So officially,

         16  there's no board to convene, per se.  But you know,

         17  we are active in terms of talking to the community,

         18  so you know, we're not operating in a vacuum.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The other

         20  question I have is archiving.  That's a big concern.

         21    I know that in talking  -- having been involved

         22  with Crosswalks over the years, it was a challenge.

         23  How do you handle the archiving issue currently?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: We work

         25  closely with Municipal Archives, and every year or
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          2  so, we send basically a truck load of broadcast-

          3  quality beta tapes to the Municipal Archives for

          4  preservation.  Such that all of the historical, City

          5  Council Meetings, Mayoral events, other things we've

          6  covered, are available there.  And they're the

          7  curators, and know how to preserve that type of

          8  content.

          9                 Additionally, you know, in terms of

         10  media that we need to access more readily, we're

         11  investing in sort of digital resources to you know,

         12  make them more accessible, such that someday,

         13  perhaps, some of our things could be available sort

         14  of on demand component, via the Internet.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: In other cities

         16   --  I know this is again, maybe a resource issue

         17   --  but one can go and find a portion of a long

         18  City Council meeting, or a long Committee on

         19  Technology in Government meeting, and not the whole

         20  aspect.  And again, is that something that's being

         21  considered?  I'm very you know, you can't show it

         22  all.  You can't  --  you know, now, how on --  it's

         23  kind of disconcerting to be watching NBC TV News,

         24  and they'll say, okay, refer to the web for further

         25  information. You've probably seen that now.  And the
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          2  question is, how can we do that so that researchers,

          3  school children, et cetera, can get a better sense

          4  of what government's all about?  I think the

          5  cooking, they will be fine.  But for the government,

          6  and the issues regarding research on different

          7  topics, is there some way we could pull up, on a

          8  more systemic basis, the government channel?

          9  Government information.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: I think

         11  that's a great question.  And the answer is

         12  absolutely.  We are already exploring two

         13  opportunities to do that, if you will.  We have a

         14  partnership currently with the Google Video, that

         15  allows you to search out a portion of our video

         16  content online, by using just a phrase or two

         17  online.

         18                 We've also entered into a deal with

         19  NBC as part of the launch of their NBBC Internet,

         20  new Internet site, where they will be able to search

         21  video, where you will actually be able to look at a

         22  larger portion of our programming, and search it,

         23  through simple catch phrases.  And so we're

         24  definitely exploring opportunities to do that.  To

         25  the extent that we would be able to do that on
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          2  NYC.gov, that's something that we would also look

          3  into.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So where can you

          5  do that now? Is one  --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Right

          7  now, if you're interested in searching our

          8  programming, or any of our video content, you can go

          9  to Google Video.  And while our complete library is

         10  not there, there is an ample amount of content.  In

         11  the next several months, an even greater portion of

         12  our content will be available on NBBC.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And so, if  --

         14  and this is for the educational and the government

         15  aspect, for the Google Video search?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON:

         17  Actually, yes.  The Video Voter Guide was the entire

         18  Video Voter Guide  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: That I know.  A

         20  whole bunch of boring Council Members talking.  I

         21  completely think that's something that people are

         22  dying to see.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON:

         24  Absolutely.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I think they're
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          2  more interested in hearing about, you know, a

          3  discussion on land use, or something, just to be

          4  honest with you.  Is that something that could be

          5  Google searched?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Not

          7  currently.  But it certainly is something that we

          8  could do in the future.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.

         10  And what would that take, in order to make that as

         11  part of your increased revenue, from NBC and

         12  sponsorships?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Well, I

         14  think that a better place for that would be NYC.gov.

         15    And so it would take internally, probably a

         16  significant lift on the side of NYC.gov, to create

         17  that opportunity to search on the site.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  That's

         19  what we need.

         20                 We've also been joined by Council

         21  Member James Sanders, from the borough of Queens.

         22                 I have a question about City Hall

         23  cameras.  Again, probably a resource issue.  I

         24  believe that this is  --  most of the hearings are

         25  covered by one camera.  What would it take to have
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          2  two cameras, so that it could be covered in a more

          3  professional fashion?  Although I want to compliment

          4  you.  The wonderful people --  and I don't say this

          5  because they're here today, who are your staff, are

          6  pleasant, and really wonderful, as parts of our

          7  ongoing discussions.  My question though, is

          8  capital- wise, and staffing wise, what would it take

          9  to make City Hall, as I think we've discussed off

         10  line, little bit closer to what goes on in San

         11  Francisco, which is a more modern building?

         12  Obviously, it involves landmark issue.  It involves

         13  staffing.  It involves capital.  But I do think

         14  being the largest city in the country, and

         15  certainly, with our large budget, budget discussions

         16  coming up later on in 2007, this is the kind of

         17  searchable and current information that New Yorkers

         18  want.  In addition to some of the other programming

         19  that we talked about.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: First of

         21  all, I just want to thank you for recognizing our

         22  hard- working camera staff. And I want to do that as

         23  well in this public forum.  I think that our camera

         24  staff at NYC- TV is the hardest- working, talented

         25  camera unit in the City.  And I know that by working
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          2  with them, and seeing the quality of their

          3  productions they've done, on the air.  In addition

          4  to that, just the amount of people that call from

          5  other networks, who will remain nameless, that want

          6  to work with us.  So I just wanted to recognize

          7  their abilities and their efforts.  So thank you.

          8                 To your specific question, you're

          9  absolutely right. It is a resource question.  Moving

         10  to you know, a more modernized robotic, if you will,

         11  infrastructure, is something that we've always

         12  endeavored to do.  I've visited several other cities

         13  that have very efficient and modernized systems.

         14  But it's a big capital lift.  And I think it's a

         15  resource question that you know, we'd be happy to

         16  talk to you about, and consider for the future.  I

         17  also think it's something that is the right thing to

         18  do, but you know, again, it's not an overnight

         19  process by any means.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The question of

         21  on- screen information, and the ability to have live

         22  broadcasts.  What are some of the challenges to

         23  that?  Obviously, when we see Council meetings and

         24  discussions, and in the Mayor's press conference,

         25  you do see that it is a press conference, and you do
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          2  see that the date and time of the hearing, and the

          3  stated meeting of the City Council.  But you don't

          4  know exactly who is speaking, or even what the topic

          5  is.  Could be the Committee on Parks, but you don't

          6  know that they're talking about Yankee Stadium.  So

          7  the question is,  -- and also linking it  --  again,

          8  back to my for- profit, NBC situation, where it does

          9  say  --  and this is also the Council's

         10  responsibility.  It is not just the Administration's

         11  responsibility.  But working together, so that when

         12  there's a discussion on parks, the Parks

         13  Commissioner is speaking, there cold be some

         14  reference back to the City Council site, as to

         15  further information.  And so I'm just wondering how

         16  we could improve the government side of this kind of

         17  programming.  It's the banner issue.  It's the two

         18  cameral issue.  And if possible, some kind of live

         19  programming.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes.  I

         21  think that's a good great question, and I think you

         22  may have noticed that in recent years, or in the

         23  last say 18 months, we've actually made a very

         24  concerted effort to turn the Council hearings around

         25  more quickly.  So that many times, you'll see a
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          2  hearing happening today, tomorrow, or maybe the day

          3  after.  So I know that traditionally, particularly

          4  before we launched NYC- TV, there were some issues

          5  that taking sometimes you know, a month or so or

          6  even more, to see a hearing, at which point, the

          7  issue may not even be relevant any more.

          8                 So I think that to that extent, we've

          9  really made a concerted effort, and through a lot of

         10  resources, making that turn around happen more

         11  quickly.  We also have done that you know, through

         12  minimal infrastructure investment, in terms of you

         13  know, being able to find out ways to get the content

         14  to our master control, which is you know, one of our

         15  issues in terms of it's not located next to our

         16  administrative offices, it's located in the Bronx.

         17                 So to that extent, you know, I think

         18  we've made some inroads.  I think that we'd you

         19  know, be happy to talk to you about some of the

         20  ideas you have in terms of making these meetings you

         21  know, more rich content.  Given you know, arguably,

         22  the limited resources that we have to do that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  How much

         24  of NYC Media Group's budget is allocated to

         25  producing City Council, or City Council generally
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          2  content, compared to the budget allocated to

          3  producing what I would consider entertainment-

          4  related content, on Channel 25?  Or just in general,

          5  I think I'm looking at the what we consider the "G"

          6  side as opposed to the cultural side.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: All of

          8  us at NYC- TV wear many hats, and you know, drawing

          9  a line down the middle of the budget and figuring

         10  out who does this, and who does that is near as an

         11  impossible feat as I can imagine.  You know, I think

         12  that all of us, to a certain extent, clearly the

         13  three of us here, as well as you know, everyone in

         14  our EFT and camera staff, many of our producers,

         15  they're all, to a certain degree, involved in

         16  government programming.  Many of us are also

         17  involved in some of the other productions that

         18  you're referring to.  So it's not like I can  -- you

         19  know, I'm not trying to avoid the question, it's

         20  just an impossible sort of question to answer.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: We've also been

         22  joined by Council Member Leroy Comrie, from Queens.

         23  Thank you very much.

         24  Who is a long- time observer of NYC- TV, and Justice

         25  IM.
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          2                 I also  --  just to go back to the

          3  budget for a minute  --  and the NBC financial

          4  arrangement.  Is it possible that there will be

          5  other opportunities along those lines?  I know you

          6  also talked about what I call, NET, Channel 13.  And

          7  are there other places that the City's programming

          8  will be seen on, and where there might be other

          9  kinds of revenue opportunities?  Are you thinking

         10  about any place else?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes.  In

         12  fact, we have distributed our content to inflight

         13  programming, airlines.  We're talking to several

         14  cruise ships, cruise lines, currently that have

         15  destinations, point of disembarkation in New York.

         16  We are looking also at other stations, both

         17  nationally and internationally, that have expressed

         18  interest in our content, and licensing our content.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  So that

         20  would be  -- again, back to the issue  --  that

         21  would be the content that I think is highly

         22  acclaimed in terms of viewership.  But also, there's

         23  still room for improvement, at least from my

         24  perspective, in terms of looking at some of the

         25  educational and government side. So how would one be
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          2  able to improve, or I should say expand some of that

          3  content?  Is it  --  again, is it a resource issue?

          4  Is it a policy issue to try to think of ways that

          5  the Channel 25 kind of programming could in fact,

          6  include some of the other, what I would call

          7  educational or newsy  --  news that's not covered.

          8  You know, I always say, in our City, since we're so

          9  large, we have very few opportunity for local news.

         10  In our  --  definitely in terms of some of the

         11  government channels that you're talking about.  I'm

         12  a huge fan of what's been done on New York 1.  And

         13  the local newspapers.  But what goes on at City

         14  Hall, for instance, and when I say City Hall, I mean

         15  the community boards.  I mean the parent

         16  associations, the CECs, as we call them, et cetera.

         17  People don't know all of that aspect of our great

         18  City.  They do need to know about the restaurants.

         19  They do need to know about what goes on in terms of

         20  the fashion industry.  That's part of economic

         21  development.  But so is what goes on in our

         22  neighborhoods.  And I guess what I'm saying is, how

         23  can you make that interesting to the general public,

         24  and at the same time, cover it?  Is that something

         25  that is at least discussed within NYC- TV media?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: I think

          3  what you're finding is that today, NYC- TV really

          4  sort of has sort of two basic things it does.

          5  Number one, it produces  --  producing in a sense

          6  that we create from scratch as well as covering

          7  events across the City, like this one.  And the

          8  second thing we do is we distribute that content.

          9  Now, we happen to also manage several major

         10  distribution outlets; cable channels, radio

         11  stations, broadcast television stations, Internet.

         12  But we're fairly agnostic with regards to where that

         13  content that we produce is distributed.  And if it

         14  was up to me, and it's definitely something that

         15  we've tried to make one of our sort of you know, key

         16  and critical missions internally, is that we have a

         17  strategic objective in getting that content out to

         18  as many places and as many formats, independent of

         19  whatever platform it is.

         20                 So to the extent that you know, some

         21  sort of a meeting might be of interest, but only to

         22  a very niche audience, it may be that the most

         23  appropriate distribution channel is something over

         24  broadband or the Internet.  Where something else

         25  that has more mass appeal might be more appropriate
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          2  over a broadcast outlet.

          3                 So to that extent, we always are

          4  thinking about what can we cover, and who can we get

          5  it out to?  And to what end?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Council Member

          7  Comrie.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you

          9  Chairman Brewer.

         10                 I just wanted to  --  before I ask a

         11  couple of questions  --  just congratulate Alick and

         12  Matt Tollin, and Mr. Scotland, for their efforts in

         13  raising the level of awareness of NYC- TV.  Your

         14  efforts to partner with NBC, and to partner with

         15  PBS, to get the opportunity to show off New York in

         16  a wider venue, is to be highly commended.  And I

         17  just want to thank you also for featuring me on

         18  there a while ago, for a program that I did, which I

         19  have been unsuccessful in maintaining, and now my

         20  entire family, and everybody else knows about it.

         21  But that's another story for another day.  But that

         22  was due to the highlighting things in the park.

         23                 Clearly, how are you working with the

         24  independent producers that are on public access

         25  cable?  Do you have a opportunity for them to
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          2  provide programming to you independently?

          3  That you can consider for you know, Secrets in New

          4  York, or some of your other programs?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes.  I

          6  think as you correctly point out,  --  and by the

          7  way, I also want to congratulate your star role on

          8  999, it was one of my favorite episodes for sure.  I

          9  think that just as the name implies, independent

         10  producers work with a lot of people.  So I don't

         11  really think about independent producers that are on

         12  public access, or not on public access.  I think of

         13  them as sort of independent producers.  And to that

         14  extent we have a number of initiatives where we talk

         15  to them, and get their ideas.  And in fact, partner

         16  with them.  And I think a great example, and maybe

         17  Trevor can say a word or two about Backdrop NYC,

         18  which is basically our partnership with the

         19  Independent Film Committee in the community here

         20  locally.  And we have another initiative under foot

         21   --  do you want to talk about Press Play?

         22                 MR. SCOTLAND: Yes.  We're developing

         23  another program that celebrates viewer- generated

         24  content.  And that will be generated by New Yorkers

         25  about New York.  And so, we have regularly sought
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          2  out producers in New York City, to feature their

          3  content on the network, and will continue to do so.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. That's a

          5  good start, and I really appreciate your efforts on

          6  doing it.  Just one last question Madam Chair.  How

          7  are you  --  are you working with any public schools

          8  or other training outlets, to give people an

          9  opportunity to learn how to be involved in

         10  television?  And/or producing a broadcast?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: We've

         12  done actually several different things to seek out

         13  talent from the public school system.  In fact, we

         14  partnered with the Mayor's Office of Film and

         15  Television this Summer on a trainee program that

         16  they initiated, that sought out students from across

         17  the City's schools.  And we actually brought a

         18  number of those students in to learn first- hand,

         19  what we do in terms of production, and graphic

         20  design, and many of them went out into the field.

         21  We have a show that regularly airs called Teen Talk,

         22  that is actually produced wholly by students in the

         23  public school system.  And I think those are

         24  probably the two most significant examples of our

         25  efforts in that area.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.  And so

          3  people could reach out to you, if they're interested

          4  in trying to become production people, or camera

          5  people and the like?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WIERSON: Yes.  I

          7  mean, if I can use this forum, if you will, for as

          8  an advertisement for NYC- TV's incredible internship

          9  program, you know, let them come.  We love interns.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. Right.

         11  Thank you. Thank you Madam Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         13  much.  I want to thank the entire panel, and I'm

         14  sure we'll be having ongoing discussions.  And I

         15  thank you for your leadership.  And we look forward

         16  to discussing some of the ideas that we mentioned

         17  here today.  Thank you very much.

         18                 Our next panel is David Smith, from

         19  NYC College of Technology; Leslie Schultz, who is

         20  Brooklyn Community Access TV; Greg Sutton, also from

         21  the same; Cynthia Carrion, Youth Channel at MNN; And

         22  Dan Coughlin, who is the Director of MNN.

         23                 Good morning.  Whomever would like to

         24  start. I think David Smith has a time constraint.

         25  If you could keep your testimony to three minutes,
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          2  that would be great.  Thanks.

          3                 MR. SMITH: Thank you.  I think I have

          4  a three- minute statement here.  And I'm actually

          5  pleased that I can respond almost directly to the

          6  Councilman's request about education in the public

          7  television.

          8                 Thank you for having me here.  My

          9  name is David Smith, and I am Chair of the

         10  Entertainment Technology Department at New York City

         11  College of Technology, City University of New York.

         12  My background is as composer and sound designer, and

         13  I have been deeply involved in both professional and

         14  academic aspects of the entertainment and performing

         15  arts world for over 25 years.

         16                 The programs in our department

         17  provide students with a theoretical and practical

         18  education, using technologies deployed within the

         19  entertainment world.  One of which, of course, is

         20  television and video production.

         21                 From this background, I'm pleased to

         22  endorse the mission and goals of community access

         23  television organizations.

         24                 Information exchange is occurring at

         25  greater and greater rates.  We are moving from a
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          2  time of text- based to multi media- based domination

          3  of this process.  Today's technology provides

          4  unprecedented ways to record, manipulate, and

          5  distribute media over more traditional broadcasting

          6  formats, as well as over the ever- changing

          7  Internet.  This will only increase for the

          8  foreseeable future.  Information and the ability to

          9  distribute it is power.  It this becomes important

         10  that ordinary people have access to resources and

         11  the techniques to use them, so that they can

         12  participate in the greater community of ideas.

         13                 Today, ever larger corporate

         14  conglomerates control ever greater amounts of media

         15  outlets.  Thus, a large percentage of public

         16  discourse is ultimately controlled by a relatively

         17  small group of individuals.  Because of this, the

         18  lively exchange of information and the ensuing

         19  debate that is essential to the preservation of our

         20  democratic process, is being put at risk. However

         21  there are other trends counteracting this.  The

         22  Internet, if it can maintain its net- neutral

         23  status, is creating a revolution in the way that we

         24  transmit and receive information.  And this medium

         25  is also experiencing a move from text to image-
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          2  based content.  Community access television can

          3  serve a vital role in the democratization of this

          4  process.  Excuse my pronunciation.

          5                 Not only does community access

          6  television provide a broadcasting outlet for

          7  virtually anyone's video content, it also provides

          8  us a valuable resource for equipment training and

          9  infrastructure.  The content produced from this is

         10  not only can be distributed over cable access, but

         11  over other pathways as well. The ability to produce

         12  content that can be disseminated in a variety of

         13  formats thus becomes important, not only for

         14  purposes of art and communication, but for the

         15  democratic process itself.

         16                 As the chair of a department that

         17  specializes in all areas of entertainment

         18  production, we recognize and appreciate the

         19  importance of a vibrant community access television

         20  organization and what it can provide more

         21  specifically, to our students.  We are currently in

         22  the process of expanding our video systems offerings

         23  into a full- blown program, and are collaborating

         24  with Brooklyn Community Access Television in this

         25  pursuit.
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          2                 This is a great win- win situation.

          3  BCAT has equipment, studio space, and infrastructure

          4  that can supplement and enhance our existing

          5  resources.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: If you could wrap

          7  up, sir.

          8                 MR. SMITH: Okay.  Then, I will wrap

          9  up.  I think that it's very important to maintain a

         10  strong, free, vibrant exchange of information, and

         11  with the use of cable access television, we're going

         12  to  --  we'll be able to increase the educational

         13  offerings to the City University of New York

         14  students. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you. Thank

         16  you very much. Does BCAT want to go next?

         17                 MS. SCHULTZ: Yes.  Thank you.  Good

         18  morning Chairperson Brewer, and Members of the

         19  Committee.  I'm Leslie Schultz, Executive Director

         20  of Brooklyn Information and Culture, also known as

         21  BRIC, the community access organization for

         22  Brooklyn.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You're always

         24  welcome to summarize too.

         25                 MS. SCHULTZ: Thank you.  BRIC
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          2  fulfills its obligations as a community access

          3  organization via our BCAT program, which is one of

          4  four BRIC cultural programs.  I'm here today with

          5  Greg Sutton, BCAT's Executive Producer, and we thank

          6  you for the opportunity to be here.

          7                 BCAT's work is multi- faceted.  We

          8  offer Brooklynites an extensive array of low- cost

          9  media education courses, channel time for the

         10  cablecast of community- produced television, on our

         11  four cable channels, and free use of our first-

         12  class media center for the creation of television

         13  programs that we air.  We also incubate and produce

         14  Brooklyn- centric television content which aims to

         15  enhance the lives of our residents, often in

         16  partnership with other Brooklyn nonprofits.

         17                 We do this work under the auspices of

         18  three BCAT divisions: The Brooklyn Center and

         19  Access, which will be working with David's group;

         20  Brooklyn Free Speech TV; and Brooklyn Independent

         21  Television.  Greg Sutton, my colleague, will

         22  describe each of these programs in quick detail.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.

         24                 MR. SUTTON: Let's start out with

         25  education initiatives.  The Brooklyn Center for
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          2  Media Education and Access, is that organization

          3  within BCAT that does education.  We've recently

          4  expanded that educational initiative to go from two

          5  courses to 11 courses, and we are rapidly putting

          6  more courses in place.  Exceptionally low- cost

          7  courses, teaching this technology to people.  We

          8  service over 300 people a year, from straight

          9  television production to video blogging for the

         10  Internet.  After taking one of our courses, you are

         11  free to use an $8 million television production

         12  facility to create television that you want to

         13  create.  No censorship there, within legal confines.

         14    And those programs are added as part of Brooklyn

         15  Free Speech television.  And that, as the Committee

         16  is aware, is the impetus for public access. Anybody

         17  could apply for program time.  It is a place where

         18  voices are heard in a world, where as Professor

         19  Smith says, is a media environment that's run by a

         20  few conglomerates.  So we're very proud of that

         21  program.  From Christian issues, to the Jewish

         22  Entertainment Hour, Brooklyn versus Bush, Black Men

         23  Screaming, Caribbean Connection, La Nueva Ola.  Five

         24  hundred programs in Brooklyn Free Speech TV.

         25                 Under the auspices of Brooklyn
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          2  Independent Television, we also help fill the need

          3  for television content that is about Brooklyn, by

          4  producing locally focused programs that enhance the

          5  lives of residents.

          6                 We cablecast offerings of dozens of

          7  Brooklyn nonprofits a year.  We have shows on  --

          8  Reporter Roundtable, Brooklyn Elected Official,

          9  which features the elected officials in Brooklyn.

         10  On 13 different neighborhoods, we've recently begun

         11  a program intended to enhance local public health

         12  agenda, particularly for medically under- served

         13  Brooklynites.  And we're guided in this work by an

         14  advisory committee of 15 leading Brooklyn leading

         15  public health professionals.

         16            We regularly co- produce with Brooklyn

         17  organizations. Brooklyn Public Library, Brooklyn

         18  Philharmonic concerts.  Work with the Brooklyn

         19  Museum of Art, and other nonprofits.

         20                 We're in a tremendous period of

         21  growth, and we're expanding our service to the

         22  Brooklyn community on both the access and the

         23  programming fronts, in ways that make a real

         24  contribution to our borough.

         25                 I'd just very quickly, if I can, I
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          2  really want thank this Committee, and especially

          3  Chairperson Brewer, for consistently standing with

          4  public access in every way, shape, or form, from

          5  national legislations that challenge what we do, to

          6  putting in language, and authorizing resolutions

          7  really on behalf of everyone in Brooklyn.  We both

          8  are very happy to say thank you for that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 Manhattan Neighborhood Network.

         12                 MS. CARRION: Good morning.  Thank

         13  you.  On behalf of Manhattan Neighborhood Network,

         14  Steve  Channel, I would like to thank the City

         15  Council, especially Council Member Brewer for its

         16  continuing support of public access television.  It

         17  is my hope that together, we can create and

         18  implement a vision of engaging and educating the

         19  next generation.  Youth Channel's Department of

         20  Manhattan Neighborhood Network, working with youth

         21  under 25, our mission is to provide disadvantaged,

         22  low- income and with the access to central

         23  networking space, for sharing and expressing their

         24  views to production, programming, workshops and

         25  trainings.
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          2                 Since its inception, Youth Channel

          3  has trained hundreds of young people every year

          4  throughout the City, in the areas of media

          5  education, production, and distribution.  They are

          6  here with me today.  I brought them out very early,

          7  so thank you everyone for coming.

          8                 Our community partners and

          9  collaborators include the Department of Youth and

         10  Community Development, New York Public Library,

         11  Childrens' Aid Society, the After- School

         12  Corporation, Henry Street Settlement, Educational

         13  Video Center, and many other youth- based

         14  organizations, schools, and institutions.

         15                 Our interactive curriculum provides a

         16  resource for teachers and peer trainers to educate

         17  their students on media ownership, massaging,

         18  production, and outreach.

         19                 Youth Channel has become a hub for

         20  youth- produced media and a national leader in

         21  distribution and education.  Many of our youth-

         22  produced programming centers on issues of

         23  immigration, education, safe sex, and incarceration.

         24    Many of our youth videos have won and received

         25  various local and national recognition.
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          2                 Youth Channel alumms have continued

          3  in higher education and/or have pursued and obtained

          4  careers in the media field.  Youth Channel prepares

          5  the youth of New York City to not just be media

          6  consumers, but media producers.  With additional

          7  support from the National Endowment for the Arts,

          8  NYSCA, Open Society Institute, and the Ford

          9  Foundation, Youth Channel has been able to provide

         10  increased trainings and serve more youths than ever

         11  before.  But this is still not enough.

         12                 Established in March of 2000, Youth

         13  Channel was slated to become the first channel ever

         14  created in the United States, where media made by

         15  youth for youth would thrive. Unfortunately, that

         16  vision has been held back to a programming block of

         17  seven hour a week, on Time Warner Channel 34, and

         18  RCN for Manhattan residents only.

         19                 Youth Channel would like to work in

         20  conjunction with the City Council in creating a

         21  fifth channel for public access that would house

         22  youth- produced programming.  This youth channel

         23  would be accessible to all New York City residents.

         24  We are very interested in finding ways to

         25  collaborate with the City Council, Department of
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          2  Education, and others, in reestablishing studios in

          3  the various media schools throughout the City.  The

          4  youth channel would serve not only to inform,

          5  educate, and entertain youths in the City, but to

          6  also train them in making and producing content for

          7  the channel.

          8                 It should also be mentioned that a

          9  greater commitment needs to be made, so that our

         10  City's schools gain, and are able to sustain greater

         11  broadband capabilities and equipment that propels

         12  their students to enter the digital information age.Before

         13  we set in stone policy that will impact a

         14  generation, I hope this Committee seeks to include

         15  their voices in framing this debate.

         16                 I'll quickly wrap up.  There has been

         17  much discussion about creating media opportunities

         18  for disenfranchised communities and women of color.

         19  But I hope we do not forget about our youth of today

         20  and tomorrow.  Many of our youth representing this

         21  disenfranchised community stand to lose the most as

         22  the digital age widens.

         23                 Thank you.  And I'm here to answer

         24  any questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

                                                            78

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  much.  Dan.

          3                 MR. COUGHLIN: Thank you very much.

          4  Cynthia, carry on, and the fantastic staff of the

          5  Youth Channel at Manhattan Neighborhood Network.

          6                 My name is Dan Coughlin.  I'm the

          7  Executive Director of Manhattan Neighborhood

          8  Network.  And on behalf of the entire MNN community,

          9  I'd also like to thank Council Member Gale Brewer

         10  for your leadership on the issues of technology and

         11  public access in telecommunications.  Not just in

         12  New York City, but for the entire country.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you Dan.

         14  Don't use up all your three minutes.  Keep going.

         15                 MR. COUGHLIN: Okay.  I just have a

         16  few more  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Keep going.

         18                 MR. COUGHLIN: Laudatory comments.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: No.

         20                 MR. COUGHLIN: I just wanted to say, I

         21  think this hearing comes at a critical time,

         22  especially as we hear a lot about the digital

         23  divide, and how important it is that New York City

         24  does not fall behind the rest of the country and the

         25  world in ensuring that all of the City's residents,
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          2  and all of the City's diverse neighborhoods and

          3  community organizations have access to high- tech,

          4  broadband services and skills, and that their voices

          5  are heard on the critical issues of the day.  And

          6  we're going to hear  --  this Committee is going to

          7  hear a lot about that today.

          8                 I just want to focus on one aspect of

          9  that area, and that is how public educational and

         10  government access channels are funded in New York

         11  City compared with the rest of the country.  We just

         12  saw in Washington, the benchmark figure of one

         13  percent of gross revenues are to be earmarked for

         14  public educational and government channels and I-

         15  Net.  Yet we heard in testimony last week, from Time

         16  Warner Cable of New York City, that they generated

         17  $1.3 billion in revenue in cable services alone last

         18  year in New York City.  Not including phones, not

         19  including Internet access.  Just in cable services,

         20  $1.3 billion.  Yet they reported to the City Council

         21  that only less than one half of one percent of that

         22  revenue was earmarked for public access centers.  Of

         23  course, public access centers are very grateful.

         24  But that is very different from what is happening in

         25  the rest of the country, where many municipalities
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          2  and towns, reading this morning, get not just one

          3  percent of base, but two percent, three percent.

          4  Townsend, Massachusetts, four percent.  Four and

          5  half percent.  Five percent of revenues additional

          6  to the franchise fee.  Above and beyond the five

          7  percent, for public educational and government

          8  channels.

          9                 So I think it's very important for

         10  the City Council, going forward  --  and I know the

         11  City Council is extremely concerned that New York

         12  City be a part of the international, worldwide

         13  communications revolution, and that all the City's

         14  residents benefit from that, and therefore, there

         15  has to be a fair and level playing field in terms of

         16  funding, for PEG, I- Net, for community access, to

         17  broadband technology and services.

         18                 So I would leave it just at that

         19  point.  Thank you again for the hearing this

         20  morning.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         22  much.  One of the --  Thank you all for all of the

         23  hard work that you do.  I have a question for you.

         24  Obviously, the partnership that you're talking about

         25  with BCAT is important, and in order to pick up on
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          2  what Dan has suggested, in terms of some of the

          3  revenue issues, what would you see if the revenue

          4  was there, in terms of promoting what I consider an

          5  alternative to the for- profit media?  Because I

          6  think you heard the earlier discussion that we had

          7  with the folks from NYC- TV, and there are lots of

          8  other ways that government, education can be

          9  promoted in our City.  Can you just talk for just a

         10  few minutes about some of those ideas that you might

         11  have, where I think there would be a wider audience,

         12  different kinds of ways of attracting people to

         13  listen or to view.  I'm obviously very interested in

         14  the coordination between the different kinds of

         15  media, and obviously, you need partnerships to do

         16  that.

         17                 MR. SMITH: Right.  Well thank you.  I

         18  think that one of the things that we're noticing in

         19  the world today is that there's a big move into the

         20  realm of digital distribution, which really goes

         21  beyond what current cable access, and current types

         22  of direct distribution of media is engendered.  So

         23  for example, we're seeing big changes in the way

         24  that the Internet can not only provide information,

         25  but provide feedback from that information.

                                                            82

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 One of the things that we see is that

          3  we are so deeply involved with heavy production

          4  values, and there is so much information out there,

          5  that many times, the validity of the information

          6  that's provided is not based on what they actual

          7  content is, but it's based on the production values

          8  that are  -- that that content is delivered.

          9                 And if that's the case, then what

         10  becomes important is that the citizenry, or people

         11  that are  --  don't have the capabilities or the

         12  understanding about how to deal with production

         13  values, need to have access to these particular

         14  resources.

         15                 So I'm part of the CUNY spill, which

         16  is obviously open admission, and we provide a lot of

         17  opportunities for practically anyone that has a high

         18  school or equivalent can come and take courses.  And

         19  CUNY obviously  --  you know, all government

         20  organizations have fiscal issues, and as in any

         21  other school of this, we are faced with these types

         22  of ideas.  So if we can actually create synergistic

         23  relationships with other organizations that already

         24  have the infrastructure in place, then I think that

         25  we'll be able to go much further, in terms of
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          2  providing this type of information.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          4  much.  Thank you to all of the individuals who are

          5  here at the table, and your leadership.  And I know

          6  we'll have ongoing discussions.  Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 The next panel is Jose Rodriguez,

          9  HITN; Thomas Hillgardner, Association of Cable

         10  Access Producers; Clifford Jacobs, from QPTV in

         11  Queens; Mike Knobbe, u from Bronx Community College;

         12  and Audrey Duncan, BRONXNET.

         13                 And we're going to stick to the

         14  three- minute rule. Thank you.  Who would like to

         15  start?  Mr. Rodriguez.

         16                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Council Member, than

         17  you very much for having convened these hearings.

         18  One thing is certain about what is happening in this

         19  City.  Is that for the first time in many years, and

         20  maybe the first time ever, this City is having a

         21  place where ideas, information, is being shared.

         22  This Committee, your Committee, has become the

         23  clearing house for this City, not only for giving

         24  for the industry, but also for organizations and

         25  groups like ours.  So I really commend your
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          2  commitment to making sure that broadband, the

          3  broadband discussion takes place for all New Yorkers

          4  to be part of, and your commitment to diversity.  I

          5  really very sincerely commend you for that.  And

          6  particularly, obviously, your commitment to HITN.

          7                 Today, I'm here to support your

          8  efforts to try to make sure that the content that is

          9  aired through the governmental outlets that are

         10  available in this City, reflect the needs of this

         11  City.  This City is a by and large, a preliminary

         12  immigrant city, that have lot of needs which are not

         13  being met by dwindling resources, because lack of

         14  resources that are being reduced, increasingly

         15  reduced from the federal government.  And whatever

         16  outlet that is there, that could be used to bring

         17  information and education to our citizens, it is

         18  important that we make sure that that information

         19  comes across.

         20                 There are many, many of our citizens

         21  that  --  also people think that a hearing might be

         22  boring.  But nevertheless, they many times, they

         23  when they're flipping channels, they hear something

         24  that strikes them.  And they stand there, and they

         25  hear those discussions.  And sometimes, that's the
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          2  first time that they have the opportunity to learn

          3  that an issue that is relevant to be discussed,

          4  because many times, even in the printed media, those

          5  issues are not addressed.

          6                 I'm also here today to offer my

          7  organization's resources, and to other entities that

          8  are in this City.  We are  -- in fact, one of the

          9  things that as I mentioned today, I learned a lot by

         10  the last presentation and this here, in terms of a

         11  number of organizations that are doing things in

         12  this City.  And many times, that information not

         13  only is useful in the City, but also can go beyond.

         14                 And we would like to see how my

         15  organization can help in spreading the message

         16  outside the City, because we have the capability to

         17  collaborate.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         19  much for your ongoing leadership.  It's desperately

         20  needed, and I appreciate it. Thank you for your nice

         21  words.  Next.

         22                 MR. HILLGARDNER: Good afternoon.  My

         23  name is Tom Hillgardner.  I represent the

         24  Association of Cable Access Producers.  We're an

         25  organization of independent television producers,
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          2  that make programming that is cablecast mostly on

          3  the public access channels, but some of our members

          4  also produce programming on the leased access

          5  channels.

          6                 Briefly today, we're concerned that

          7  public access is under attack largely from the

          8  Borough President's Offices.  On August 30th, there

          9  was a decision handed down by the Public Service

         10  Commission in Amano versus BCAT, which basically

         11  held that Marty Markowitz, Borough President, may

         12  have his Brooklyn- centric programming, as you heard

         13  testimony, they have a Brooklyn- centric channel on

         14  BCAT, and this channel capacity is allocated in

         15  other than first- come, first served

         16  nondiscriminatory basis, which is really the bedrock

         17  of public access.  Since 1972, Federal

         18  Communications regulations, first- come, first-

         19  served was how public access was supposed to work.

         20  It doesn't work that way anymore.  On the New York

         21  City franchise agreement, only a portion of the

         22  channel's capacity need be allocated on a first-

         23  come, first- served basis to the public access

         24  users, and the people who run the community access

         25  organization may put whatever else they want on. And
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          2  the Public Service Commissioner recently held that

          3  they need only allocate, of the four public channels

          4  in each of the boroughs, they need only allocate

          5  first- come, first- served access on one of the four

          6  channels.  So they're susceptible to influence from

          7  the Borough President.

          8                 Now, the New York City Media Group

          9  could help this situation out, by giving the Borough

         10  President some channel time. And then they won't

         11  have to get into  --  you know, borough presidents

         12  have a right to appear on public access channels.

         13  They're citizens.  But they shouldn't, like Marty

         14  Markowitz does, have a full-time employee on the

         15  City payroll, producing television that's aimed for

         16  being put on the public access channels.  That's

         17  government butting into the public access channel,

         18  and trying to put its programming on the channel

         19  that's dedicated for public access.  We think that's

         20  wrong.

         21                 Right now, we're in a window period,

         22  where all the cable operators have to indicate their

         23  intent to renew.  As this Council probably knows,

         24  the last time it went around, the Council was shut

         25  out of really negotiating the franchise agreement.

                                                            88

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  And if it wants to really be heard on what the

          3  content of the franchise agreement is, it's pretty

          4  clear you have to legislate the contents of the

          5  franchise agreement.  Like the Charter already

          6  provides, must have government use.  It seems that

          7  the Public Service Commission has abandoned PEG, and

          8  really doesn't understand what it's about.

          9                 Congress understood what PEG was

         10  about.  They understood that it really serves

         11  specialized interests.  You really don't measure it

         12  by how many Emmys you win, or how many people are

         13  watching.  It serves specialized interests.  For

         14  example, you broadcasted the Taxi and Limousine

         15  Commission on the governmental access channel,

         16  you're not trying to break the Nielson ratings. But

         17  you're trying to educate people who need that

         18  information.

         19                 So I think sometimes, some of the

         20  testimony that we heard today, people are missing

         21  what PEG is really about.  And you should look at

         22  that, those rules.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You need to wrap

         24  up sir.

         25                 MR. HILLGARDNER: Just one last thing.
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          2  I would say that you should look at the fact that

          3  the franchise agreement doesn't contain any

          4  educational access channels, only governmental and

          5  public channels.  And the Committee should look into

          6  that.

          7                 Thank you very much for your time.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          9  much.  Next.

         10                 You've got to push the button.  We're

         11  low tech here.

         12                 MS. DUNCAN: I'm Audrey Duncan,

         13  Director of Development and Training at BRONXNET

         14  Television.

         15                 BRONXNET and other public access

         16  educational and governmental television stations

         17  around the country provide unique opportunities for

         18  the citizens and leaders of local areas to share

         19  vital information with one another.  While no one

         20  can dispute the importance of keeping up with

         21  national and international news and public affairs

         22  on mainstream television programs, it's equally as

         23  important for each American to be aware of the

         24  issues, services, and activities in their own

         25  locale.
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          2                 Public access stations offer programs

          3  on topics that allow us to stay informed so that we

          4  can make educated decisions about how we participate

          5  in the democratic process.

          6                 At BRONXNET, we've trained over 3,000

          7  Bronx residents in television production since 1993.

          8  We have approximately 400 active producers during

          9  any given programming season.  Many of those

         10  producers create programs that keep their neighbors

         11  informed about economic development, politics,

         12  social services, and arts in the Bronx.  The

         13  information passed on through these programs

         14  encourages viewers to do many things, including take

         15  advantage of services that benefit their families,

         16  communicate with elected officials about their

         17  concerns, get involved in helping their communities,

         18  and participate in artistic and other endeavors.

         19                 In addition, like so many other areas

         20  of New York City, the Bronx is made up of diverse

         21  groups of people from all over the world.  One of

         22  the greatest services that PEG channels have

         23  provided is giving residents the opportunity to

         24  share all the unique aspects of their culture, while

         25  coming together with their neighbors to build one
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          2  community.

          3            In many instances, public access channels

          4  have become effective vehicles for residents,

          5  elected officials, and organization leaders to

          6  utilize together, to build stronger, more

          7  economically stable, creative, and vibrant

          8  communities.  In some communities, the channels are

          9  the only vehicles for letting people know that they

         10  can access many resources that can help them build a

         11  better tomorrow for themselves and their children.

         12                 PEG channels are vital and all new

         13  plans and proposals should make ample provisions for

         14  the infrastructure necessary to maintain and develop

         15  them to their maximum level of potential.  Thanks.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.  Next.

         17                 MR. KNOBBE: Chair Brewer, honorable

         18  members of the Committee, thank you so much for your

         19  insights here and for your look into connectivity

         20  how we're communicating Citywide and using

         21  technology. BRONXNET, as Audrey points out, is the

         22  television station serving the people of the Bronx,

         23  and like other public educational and governmental

         24  television stations around the nation, we encourage

         25  civic discourse and participation, inform on local
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          2  issues, help build a media literate public, connect

          3  us with our elected leaders, and we're really a

          4  manifestation of our modern- day democracy.  And as

          5  technologies are enhanced, we should find ways to

          6  strengthen and build the way PEG serves and engages

          7  the public.

          8                 BRONXNET is the private, not- for-

          9  profit television station serving the people of the

         10  Bronx, located on the beautiful campus of Lehman

         11  College.  We cablecast 24 hours a day, seven days a

         12  week programs produced by our neighbors, and

         13  professionally produced programs by, for, and about

         14  the people of the Bronx.

         15                 We have a strong educational mission.

         16    Our neighbors that take the production training in

         17  workshops, produce programs that are cablecast on

         18  BRONXNET's channels.  And the broad spectrum of

         19  programs on BRONXNET reflects the populations of our

         20  borough, close to 1.4 million.  Puerto Rican,

         21  African, Dominican, Mexican, Albanian, Honduran

         22  producers, Tai producers, have all take training at

         23  BRONXNET and produced very strong programming.  And

         24  they're all represented on our channels, and

         25  included here today is Cheritos Sisnaros (phonetic),
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          2  a very terrific, long- time producer, who is doing a

          3  show in Spanish weekly, that is very informative

          4  with news and information for the public.  This is

          5  democracy at work, and part of civil participation

          6  in our society.  This is programs produced by our

          7  people, our neighbors, from our communities.

          8                 Some local independent access

          9  producers have actively been producing for decades,

         10  while others have build successful careers in media

         11  and film making from BRONXNET training, and training

         12  at like facilities.

         13                 Through our training program for

         14  future media professionals, we've given our   --

         15  well, some 1,000 college and high school students

         16  hands- on studio, field editing, and graphics

         17  production experience.  Our BRONXNET generals

         18  workshop provides intensive writing, producing, and

         19  on- air training for college students.  BRONXNET

         20  professionally produced signature programs, provide

         21  an interactive form for the users to dialogue on the

         22  broad issues, and the local issues that connect us.

         23                 We present the Town Hall meetings,

         24  the Borough Board meetings, the Service Cabinet

         25  meetings, the conferences, the academic forums, the
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          2  hearings, and addresses from our elected officials

          3  that keep the public informed on a local and

          4  neighborhood- by- neighborhood level.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I'm the only

          6  person who loves all those meetings.  Go ahead.

          7                 MR. KNOBBE: And you know, and we're

          8  enhancing the way we do them.  We provide arts

          9  coverage, through our Performing Arts series.

         10  Thousands of organizations and the agencies come to

         11  our studios on the BRONXNET channels, sharing

         12  important information with the public.  We help get

         13  the word out about the issues and services available

         14  to our communities on programs like Open, Dialago,

         15  Bronx Talk, Perspectives, and many more.

         16                 In our borough universities and

         17  hospitals, education and health issues are regularly

         18  presented.  Representatives and programs from these

         19  institutions are regularly on our channels.  We have

         20  great partnerships with hospitals, universities.

         21  This is a community development. These are our

         22  people empowered.  We produce documentaries,   --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You need to wrap

         24  up.

         25                 MR. KNOBBE: And how can we better
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          2  serve the public? Or how can be build on this

          3  success?  Expanding training services, allowing for

          4  more interactivity, and civic engagement through

          5  technology, increasing the ability to go live from

          6  remote locations, increase support for programming

          7  and services, and some of the other issues brought

          8  up here.  Let's work together to enhance this vital

          9  resource.  Thank you so much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         11  much.  Next.

         12                 MR. JACOBS: Good afternoon.  My name

         13  is Clifford Jacobs.  I'm the Deputy Executive

         14  Director of Queens Public Television.  And thank you

         15  for giving me this opportunity.

         16                 I'd like to make two brief comments

         17  about the importance and influence of community

         18  television.  Even though I represent QVTV, what I

         19  say is true for my colleagues in the Bronx,

         20  Brooklyn, Manhattan, and Staten Island.

         21                 Community television works with a

         22  number of not- for profit organizations, in helping

         23  them get their message out to the community.  And

         24  through those organizations, they reach thousands of

         25  other individuals in our respective communities.
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          2  And so, the number of people that we actually touch

          3  far exceeds the number of actual cable subscribers

          4  in any given borough.

          5                 The other thing is that New York is a

          6  diverse community.  In Queens alone, there are over

          7  100 different languages and dialects spoken.  The

          8  only place those individuals can turn to, to find

          9  information in their own language, about services,

         10  immigration, health care, education, is on the

         11  community access channels, because the mainstream

         12  commercial media do not present programs or produce

         13  programs in those languages.

         14                 So those are the areas that I think

         15  that are sometimes overlooked, about community

         16  television.  We are an important resource for many

         17  people in our community.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         19  much.  Anybody else that wants to speak?

         20                 Did you speak sir?  Did you want to

         21  speak?  Okay.

         22                 My question, just very quickly, is

         23  particularly for the PEG channels is, do you ever

         24  have any advisory or communication with NYC- TV

         25  medial group?  Is there any  --  obviously, that's
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          2  the other part of the PEG.

          3                 MR. KNOBBE: We have had some

          4  engagement and partnership with the CUNY television

          5  in the past, and continue. And we look to partner

          6  with any other entity that would benefit for the

          7  public.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.

          9  Queens.

         10                 MR. JACOBS: Not at present.  Just as

         11  a matter of history, NYC- TV, formerly Crosswalks,

         12  was launched in Queens  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You've been

         14  around a long time, like I have.

         15                 MR. JACOBS: Yes.  I've been around

         16  for 18 years. They launched in Queens, and they used

         17  our facility initially, until they got their own

         18  facility.  But there's no current relationship.

         19                 MR. HILLGARDNER: If I may, you asked

         20  the New York City Media Group before if they'd ever

         21  reached out to any kind of public access producers.

         22  The Association of Cable Access Producers, as sort

         23  of a clearing house for the independent producers in

         24  New York City, has never had any contact with them.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  Thank you
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          2  very much.  All right.

          3                 Thank you all very much, and we look

          4  forward to ongoing discussions.  Thank you.

          5                 The next panel is Michael McKee, New

          6  York State Tenants and Neighbors and PACT.  I would

          7  say more PACT; Jean Rice, Picture the Homeless;

          8  Michael Eisenmeyer, SaveAccess.org;  Ms. Park, from

          9  the Funding Exchange's Media Justice Fund; and David

         10  Tsieu, Chines Staff and Workers Association.

         11                 Go ahead.  Who would like to begin?

         12                 MS. PARK: Yes.  I'm going to start.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Three minutes.

         14                 MS. PARK: My name is Hye Jung Park,

         15  Program Officer of the Funding Exchange's Media

         16  Justice Fund.  Drawing on a civil rights legacy, the

         17  mission of the Funding Exchange's Media Justice Fund

         18  is to work with the community organizers and

         19  activists to reclaim control of the media as a

         20  public resource, and to reclaim the media as a tool

         21  for social justice.

         22                 Like the fight against the

         23  homelessness or the push for fair wages and economic

         24  equity, the Media Justice Movement is a social

         25  justice movement.  Past Grant projects of the Media
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          2  Justice Fund include: The Youth Media Council in the

          3  Bay area; campaign to hold local clear channel radio

          4  stations accountable to the community, and demand

          5  the public airwaves to promote justice and peace.

          6  Rather than violence and war.

          7                 Prometheus radio project in

          8  Philadelphia launched a nationwide campaign training

          9  communities to create their own neighborhood radio

         10  stations.  For years, media corporations, with the

         11  support of government interests, have been

         12  aggressively expanding their empires outside the

         13  view of the public, and in spite of the fact that

         14  the media airwaves, like the air we breathe, and the

         15  water we drink, belong to the public.

         16                 Currently, the corporations are

         17  threatening to end public and community media,

         18  taking away keepers access to new technologies and

         19  free airwaves.  Right here in New York City, the

         20  media capital of the world, thousands of New Yorkers

         21  do not have access to open, vigorous public debate

         22  that could lead them to take action in their

         23  communities.  They don't have access to information

         24  that could bring them economic prosperity, and they

         25  don't have access to opportunities for self
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          2  expression or personal empowerment through media

          3  communication.

          4                 People don't have access to these

          5  things because of the cost of access to the media is

          6  too high, and because of a digital divide, which

          7  harshly impacts the media access of people with a

          8  low incomes, minority communities, recent

          9  immigrants, seniors, the disabled, and others

         10  struggling with the difficult life circumstances.

         11                 As we look forward  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You need to wrap

         13  up.

         14                 MS. PARK: We need across the board

         15  broadband access so low- income communities are not

         16  left behind by telecommunications, redlining, or the

         17  digital divide, accessible community members, small

         18  business, and those in  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You need to wrap

         20  up.  You just need to wrap up.

         21                 MS. PARK: So I urge the Committee to

         22  support public access TV, and to push for applicable

         23  new public media access.  So set policies in which

         24  we bring media justice to all New Yorkers. Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.  Mr.

          3  McKee.

          4                 MR. MCKEE: Good afternoon Council

          5  Member Brewer and Council Member James.  Thank you

          6  very much for convening this hearing.  And for your

          7  support for community access television.

          8                 I produce and host a weekly call- in

          9  program produced with help from Manhattan

         10  Neighborhood Network, and the Downtown Community TV

         11  Center.  Which I think provides a very real service

         12  to tenants throughout the two boroughs in which we

         13  currently stream. We aren't carried live in

         14  Manhattan and the Bronx.  And we hope soon to be

         15  expanding to other boroughs.

         16                 We get an enormously wide array of

         17  calls, from public housing tenants, Section housing

         18  tenants, Section Eight housing tenants, rent

         19  regulated tenants, a lot of very frightened people.

         20  People who don't know their rights.  You know,

         21  there's this myth in New York City that tenants are

         22  powerful and strong, and you know, have an advantage

         23  over landlords.  And of course, we know that's not

         24  true.

         25                 We very much hope that the Council
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          2  will be able to succeed in helping us in expanding

          3  community access television. And we know that you're

          4  committed to this, and we're nervously watching

          5  what's happening in Washington, where the House

          6  passed a bill that we think would be extremely

          7  damaging.  We're sort of holding our breath to see

          8  what the U.S. Senate will do.

          9                 And you know, there is an enormous

         10  need out there. I mean, if you  --  and I'm sure

         11  you've seen this yourself.  -- When you go to a

         12  place like Manhattan Neighborhood Network, or DCTV,

         13  the diversity, the array  --  I mean, this is New

         14  York City. For example, last week, right before we

         15  went on the air, there was a program being taped

         16  with the immigrant workers, the people who had done

         17  the cleanup at Ground Zero, who had protested the

         18  day before on their issue of the health care.  Some

         19  documented, some undocumented.  They have no access

         20  to regular media.  You know, we're in the media

         21  capital of the world, but unfortunately, you know,

         22  our media are very jaded.  If you have 5,000 people

         23  walking over the Brooklyn Bridge, you're lucky of

         24  you get a 10- second spot on one of the evening

         25  newscasts, and a photograph and a caption in the
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          2  next day's paper.  If we were in Poughkeepsie, or

          3  Elmira, and we had 25 people picketing the Mayor's

          4  house, we'd be on the front page of the newspaper,

          5  and have two or three minutes on the TV news that

          6  night.  But this is New York City, and this is a

          7  precious and important resource, and it needs to be

          8  nurtured, and it needs to be expanded.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         10  much.  Next.

         11                 MR. RICE: Good afternoon ladies and

         12  gentlemen of the City Council.  My name is Jean

         13  Rice.  I was born on July 1, 1939 in Anderson, South

         14  Carolina.  And I must say, I'm proud of American

         15  apartheid, and that's where I get my passion for

         16  social justice and equal rights from.  Currently, I

         17  serve as on the Board of Directors of an

         18  organization called Picture the Homeless, that was

         19  founded in 1999.  I want to say that as part of our

         20  ongoing experience and exposed to things that the

         21  mainstream media don't usually pick up on, it would

         22  have been impossible for us to arouse the wrath of a

         23  city and inspire democratic reform were it not for

         24  allowing Betty, who is our Training Coordinator and

         25  said, MNN network and giving us the training and the
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          2  capability to bring a certain draconian measures

          3  that were taking place in our City, to the City's

          4  attention.

          5                 Once such example was homeless people

          6  were being illegally fingerprinted for offenses less

          7  than crimes.  Thousands of them.  This is an

          8  impediment to housing subsidies, and to employment.

          9  Thanks to a neighborhood media, we brought this to

         10  the public's attention, it was a demand, this is

         11  being rectified now.               Another such

         12  issue, the abandoned buildings that were being

         13  languishing by real estate speculators while

         14  homeless people reached disproportionate record

         15  numbers, now we have Scott Springer interested in

         16  doing a count.  This is another result of what can

         17  happen when there's a partnership between a

         18  grassroots organization such as mine, and these

         19  people who are neighborhood media network.

         20                 Another thing was the attention that

         21  we brought to the deplorable situation that existed

         22  at the Emergency Assistance Unit.  Again, with their

         23  training, with their outlet, brought attention to

         24  this, get some reform going on.

         25                 We'd like to urge you to continue to
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          2  put forth your human and physical resources to make

          3  this relationship continue. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          5  much.  Next.

          6                 MR. TSIEU: My name is David Tsieu.

          7  I'm a young worker and a member of the Chinese Staff

          8  and Workers Association, workers center based in

          9  Chinatown that organizes working people to challenge

         10  the super exploitation in our community, as well as

         11  the many barriers of race, gender, age, and

         12  immigration status that we face on a daily basis.

         13                 As a person who has actively worked

         14  on Chinese Staff's media and video project, I'm here

         15  today to tell you how important public access media

         16  has been to our work.  For over ten years, MNN has

         17  provided important media resources to our members to

         18  produce local, noncommercial media that reflects the

         19  life experience of immigrant workers in Chinatown.

         20  Our community has traditionally been shut out of the

         21  corporate mainstream media, and MNN has provided

         22  important opportunities for immigrant garment,

         23  restaurant, and other workers to learn the video

         24  tools to document their own stories of struggle in

         25  the sweatshop industry.  And to air these programs

                                                            106

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  on MNN, and other public access stations.

          3                 For over ten years, public access

          4  program has provided us with the ability to reach

          5  out to over half a million households.  Recently,

          6  workers in Lower Manhattan residences exposed to 9-

          7  11 toxic fallout, broadcasted a program on MNN to

          8  publicly demand that the federal government be

          9  accountable for its deliberate lying and neglect.

         10                 We aired footage of the recent

         11  immigration rights rallies, showing the public how

         12  Chinese workers are coming together with other

         13  immigrants and native born workers to demand equal

         14  rights, and fight to repeal importer sanctions,

         15  which enslaves and divides not just our community,

         16  but all working people.

         17                 As a young worker who is trying to

         18  change working conditions at my workplace, I've used

         19  the resources available at MNN to start a youth

         20  video project at Chinese Staff, and to document my

         21  struggles.  And more, to document the systemic

         22  problems that we face.  To show other young workers

         23  the power that we have, and to inspire them to fight

         24  for greater control over our time, our health, and

         25  our lives.
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          2                 Our community needs public access

          3  television to stay within our control. It is a tool

          4  that has been invaluable in our fight against

          5  exploitation in our community.  And in bringing

          6  together people of all different backgrounds to see

          7  the common struggles that we face as working people.

          8    Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.  Next.

         10                 MR. EISENMEYER: Hi.  I appreciate the

         11  opportunity to be here.  I am actually with an

         12  organization called SaveAccess.org. We're an

         13  organization of individuals around the country

         14  working in nonprofit community- based media.  And

         15  we've been organizing around the video franchise

         16  debates happening both in Congress and at different

         17  state houses around the country.

         18                 As the Committee knows, and the

         19  Council as a whole is aware, City governments and

         20  citizens are concerned about the threat to open and

         21  democratic media from the concessionary video

         22  franchises that are being negotiated around the

         23  country.  While the Senate Bill, HR5252 may not pass

         24  in this Congressional session, similar statewide

         25  bills are being passed.  In recent months, we've
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          2  seen New Jersey, Florida, and California more

          3  recently.

          4                 The Telco's lobby has a seemingly

          5  endless cash flow earmarked for buying this

          6  legislation.  Michigan is now the new target as of

          7  last week, and as you all know, New York State has

          8  an Assembly bill, A11549, you know, just sleeping.

          9  So the attempt to introduce and pass this, you know,

         10  may likely be our next fight.

         11                 So we applaud the work that the

         12  Council has done in issuing resolutions and making

         13  statements on this.

         14                 But while we're defending the public

         15  interest and the ground that we've gained, you know,

         16  over the years, we sometimes lose sight of what

         17  drove us here in the first place.  PEG is the most

         18  local of local media.  It offers the only way to

         19  narrow- cast to the smallest community, or to

         20  broadcast to the community as a whole.  This

         21  approach to communication is really the purest form

         22  possible, and it's often understood and

         23  misunderstood. Understated and misunderstood.

         24                 The challenge this commercial notion

         25  of celebrity, what is news, what is said to be
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          2  important, usually by paid experts, and it has no

          3  supporting sponsors lending the currency of

          4  corporate credibility.

          5                 PEG is where you finally meet your

          6  neighbor, and suddenly realize they have something

          7  important to say.  It's where you discover your

          8  Council Person, and suddenly realize who they are.

          9  PEG reminds us what truly democratic communication

         10  can be, and as usual, it's a work in progress.

         11                 We need to rethink PEG from the

         12  analog to the digital realm.  When the last

         13  franchise was negotiated, we were really talking

         14  about analog channels.  Now we have digital channels

         15  that number in the hundreds.  We need to think about

         16  percentages of bandwidth.  You know, that should be

         17  the public interest set aside. And multiplicity of

         18  uses.  So this is how things like universal service

         19  to broadband access can come about.  This is how

         20  four public access channels can become ten.  You

         21  know, we really need more  --  we need to quantify

         22  you know, what the public interest set aside should

         23  be.

         24                 It's a flood of commercial media out

         25  there.  And you know, we need to make sure the
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          2  public voices have an equal and a presence on that

          3  dial.

          4                 I thank  --  you know, this was a

          5  very revealing discussion earlier today, and I

          6  appreciate your doing that.  I think part of making

          7  PEG authentic and responsive to people's needs is

          8  also to make it transparent.  So I think the earlier

          9  discussion was very educational for us.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.  I

         11  have a very quick question for David and Michael.

         12  Michael, my question is, are you able, or would it

         13  take more resources to have call- in, e- mail ins?

         14  Because people have questions.

         15                 MR. MCKEE: Well, we could  --  we're

         16  on the air once a week for an hour, and we have

         17  people stacked up waiting to get on the air.  And

         18  every night, we go off the air without   --  with

         19  two or three people still on hold.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So people call

         21  in.

         22                 MR. MCKEE: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: They can't e-

         24  mail in, but they can call in.

         25                 MR. MCKEE: Yes. That's an interesting
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          2  idea.  I assume it's doable, and I would have to ask

          3  the technical people, but  --  but you know, our

          4  office manager, every   --  we're on Thursday

          5  evenings, and starting on Friday, we got 10, 15, 20

          6  calls from people who watch the program, who did not

          7  get on the air, or in some cases, who I refer to the

          8  number because they need more additional

          9  information.  So we know that there is you know,

         10  there are people watching.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: But the idea is

         12  coming out of earlier  --

         13                 MR. MCKEE: We could go on for two

         14  hours  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Exactly.  But you

         16  could also  --

         17                 MR. MCKEE: And still not be able to

         18  get everybody.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I think down the

         20  line, the idea would be, again, resources is always

         21  the question.

         22                 MR. MCKEE:  Resources, definitely an

         23  issue.  And we are extremely lucky at Tenants and

         24  Neighbors, that we have the support and help of the

         25  staff at Manhattan Neighborhood Network, and DCTV.
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          2  I mean, they're absolutely amazing people.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: They're

          4  wonderful, but what I'm saying,  --  they're

          5  fabulous.  But what I'm saying, is down the line,

          6  you want to archive your information, you want the

          7  tenant who didn't call to be able to access  --  you

          8  know, the list goes on as to what's possible.

          9  You're doing everything you can.  But I just point

         10  out that with more resources, we could even be more

         11  helpful.

         12                 MR. MCKEE: Absolutely.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.  David,

         14  what about language?

         15                 MR. TSIEU: Do you mean in the actual

         16  videos that we produce.  A lot of the videos we

         17  produce are subtitled in Spanish and Chinese, so

         18  there's no problem as  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Great.  Okay, I

         20  just wanted to make sure that was true.

         21                 MR. TSIEU: Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Michael, what's

         23  the problem with why we can't expand to Brooklyn.

         24  What's the issue?

         25                 MR. MCKEE: It's in the works.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.  Thank

          3  you.  And during your program, do you focus on

          4  public housing residents?

          5                 MR. MCKEE: We  --  it's whoever calls

          6  in.  And it varies from week to week.  Often the

          7  people who call in at the top of the hour are people

          8  who did not get on the air the previous week.  And

          9  the moment we go on the air, we have calls stacked

         10  up. Other weeks, it takes two or three minutes

         11  before we start getting calls.  I think it has

         12  something to do with whether there's a ball game on

         13  that particular evening.  But we get a lot of calls

         14  from NYCHA tenants.  A lot.  Who are  --  who have

         15  you know  --  and I have a good deal of regard for

         16  NYCHA as an institution.  Certainly compared to a

         17  lot of other public housing authorities that I've

         18  seen in Upstate, for example.  But you know, they

         19  treat people like dirt, and there are a lot of very

         20  frightened people who you know, are in the process

         21  of being evicted, or they're being called up on some

         22  kind of charges or whatever, and nobody tells them,

         23  nobody tells them what their rights are, or what the

         24  procedure is.  When we have Legal Services or Legal

         25  Aid attorneys on as guests, we can really give good
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          2  answers to public housing tenants or Section Eight

          3  tenants who call in.  The same Legal Services and

          4  Legal Aid attorneys aren't as good as answering

          5  other kinds of questions, and the private bar

          6  attorneys might have worked for Legal Services 20

          7  years ago, but they're rusty.  They don't know as

          8  much about public housing or Section Eight, or

          9  Mitchell Lama, but they know rent regulations.  So

         10  it varies.  It's a mixed bag.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Is your

         12  programming focused more on addressing complaints of

         13  callers who call in?

         14                 MR. MCKEE: That's exactly what it is.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Do you focus on

         16  policy issues at all?

         17                 MR. MCKEE: We do to an extent, but

         18  most people  -- once in a while, we get somebody who

         19  calls in and wants to talk about a legislative

         20  issue, or a policy issue.  I love that, but that's a

         21  very rare call.  Almost all of the calls are people

         22  who need help and advice.  And don't know where to

         23  turn.  And some cases we can refer people to a local

         24  group, which is great.  But you know, there are

         25  whole areas of the City where there is no local

                                                            115

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  group.  Or there's no competent local group  So you

          3  know, if somebody calls from Washington Heights, I

          4  refer them to Northern Manhattan Improvement

          5  Corporation, for example.  And give them the number

          6  right there on the air.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Whatever I can

          8  do to assist you in expanding your program, I'm

          9  available.

         10                 MR. MCKEE: Thank you Council Member.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         12  much.  Thank you all very much.

         13                 Moises Morales, Henry Street

         14  Settlement; Greg Levine, from the Center for

         15  Institutionalized Aged and Disabled; Jasmine Colon,

         16  Chica Luna Productions; and Andres Santiago, from

         17  the South Bronx Overall Economic Development Corp.

         18                 Go ahead.  Who would like to begin?

         19  The woman goes first.  Go.  You could pull it

         20  towards you.

         21                 MS. COLON: Okay.  Good afternoon.  My

         22  name is Jasmine Colon, and I am an Office Manager

         23  and a freelance Editor at Chica Luna Productions,

         24  which is a nonprofit organization located in El

         25  Barrio that seeks to develop and support women of
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          2  color who use popular media to engage social themes

          3  and are accountable to their communities.  We

          4  actually have a four-week program, which is called

          5  The F 4 program (phonetic), which is for 16 to 25

          6  women of color, which trains women to be socially

          7  conscious, to use media to  --  I'm sorry. Through

          8  media classes, production and preproduction and post

          9  production classes.

         10                 We actually have the help from M&N,

         11  who has provided us with a grant that gives us

         12  access to film equipment and also we have a show

         13  that we created, which is called the What About

         14  Show, which we showcase the women that are actually

         15  for the F 4 program, we showcase their films on

         16  public access.

         17                 I just want to reinforce that

         18  community access TV is important to us and the

         19  community in which it serves.  It allows thousands

         20  of directors, producers, editors, to create

         21  meaningful segments to educate and entertain us

         22  well.  It gives the people a chance to learn, voice

         23  their ideas, and reach out to the community. Thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very
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          2  much.  Next.

          3                 MR. LEVINE: I'd like to start off by

          4  saying my name is actually Gary Levine.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Oh, sorry about

          6  that.

          7                 MR. LEVINE: I almost didn't get up.

          8  I was wondering if there was somebody else here.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: No.  Go ahead.

         10                 MR. LEVINE: Okay.  I'd like to also

         11  start out by thanking M&N for the assistance they

         12  have given my organization over this past year.  And

         13  then I'd like to go to  --  I am a resident of an

         14  adult home in Far Rockaway New York called Ocean

         15  House Center.  I'm also an adult home advocate,

         16  working for the Coalition of Institutionalized Aged

         17  and Disabled.

         18                 I am here today to remind you about

         19  the importance of public access television,

         20  Internet, telephone, and cable services.  Free

         21  public access is used as a tool by small groups of

         22  people and small organizations to get their message

         23  out to the public.

         24                 In my case, that would be the adult

         25  home residence and advocates of New York City.
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          2  Adult homes are a place where frail and elderly

          3  people, mental healthy illnesses will love.  The

          4  problem with these homes being they do not provide

          5  everything you would hope they would.  Like being

          6  able to use computers to access the Internet, or to

          7  access cable TV, or even basic telephone services.

          8  The availability of public access television lets us

          9  get our message across to the public.  Availability

         10  of Internet would allow us to get and send out

         11  information.  Being able to access cable television

         12   --  well, as was mentioned earlier, there are a

         13  wealth of public access stations that are a wealth

         14  of information. We can't access them.  Basically,

         15  the reason why.  We have a very low income.  $150 to

         16  $170 a month, and unfortunately, with the new

         17  Medicare D, we're now being assessed co- pays, which

         18  is diminishing that amount even further.

         19                 Now, only with low cost telephones

         20  services, is the availability through low cost or

         21  free WiFi broadcast access, or land DSL, those

         22  problems could be at least somewhat taken care of.

         23  However, the public access to television is probably

         24  one of the most important because it gives an outlet

         25  to let the public at large know what the problems of
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          2  the adult home system are.  And maybe get changed.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          4  much sir.  Next.

          5                 MR. MORALES: Good afternoon. My name

          6  is Moises Morales, and I've been with Henry Street

          7  for the last seven year. I'm the lead trainer for

          8  the HIV and AIDS prevention program that entertain

          9  youths ages 14 to 21.  This mission of the project

         10  is to get youth to practice safe sex.

         11                 The Henry Street Settlement has

         12  collaborated with the Youth Channel at MNN for the

         13  past five years.  It has been an excellent ride for

         14  my organization.  Youth Channel has provided a

         15  non-judgmental forum for young people to express

         16  their ideas as well as feelings on issues that

         17  impact our youth here in the City.

         18                 Youth Channel has also provided

         19  technical assistance for my organization in regards

         20  to many of the components that fall under video

         21  production.  Our young people have had the

         22  opportunity to visit the studio at Youth Channel.

         23  This was an eye- opening experience that permitted

         24  our youth to have a more understanding of how media

         25  really works.

                                                            120

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 However, two of our young people were

          3  inspired to follow through on their careers that

          4  involve media.  Edwin and Michael had the

          5  opportunity to star in a piece called "Prom Night",

          6  that was screened at the TriBeca Youth Film

          7  Festival.  This would never been possible without

          8  the help of Youth Channel, who produced and provided

          9  technical assistance for the show.

         10                 We find that media is an excellent

         11  tool to get information out to our young people, and

         12  our goal is to reduce the risk of becoming infected

         13  with the HIV virus through the media, so one could

         14  see that it's imperative that public access TV

         15  continues. We hear from our young people who we meet

         16  on the street all the time about Prom Night.  "Oh, I

         17  seen you on Youth Channel TV".  So it's clear to us

         18  that young people are tuning in.

         19                 It's also important that other youth

         20  like the one at Henry Street Settlement has the

         21  advantage of what public access TV has to offer.  We

         22  here at Henry Street Settlement hope you hear how

         23  Youth Channel and public access TV has impacted our

         24  youth in a positive way.  So we hope that you keep

         25  public access TV alive.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          3  much.  Next.

          4                 MR. SANTIAGO: Good afternoon.  My

          5  name is Andres Santiago.  I'm here on behalf of

          6  South Bronx Overall Economic Development

          7  Corporation.  Otherwise known as SoBro.  Not easy to

          8  say that.  I am a Program Coordinator for Reel to

          9  Reel.  It's an after- school program servicing two

         10  high schools in the South Bronx currently.  It is a

         11  multi- media program that focuses on video and music

         12  production.  The program begins with theory and

         13  technical  -- basically bringing kids in to create

         14  and produce original music and original music videos

         15  that go along with it.

         16                 This program was extremely

         17  successful.  I served over 150 students in the past

         18  two years.  This Summer, partnered with Summer Youth

         19  Employment program.  Twenty students came together

         20  and created Lyrical Records, it's an all- youth run

         21  record label, which included a marketing team,

         22  design team, artists, producers, and an executive

         23  board.  The marketing team reached out to Youth

         24  Channel, and Manhattan Neighborhood Network, to

         25  create a platform to bring awareness about their
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          2  program and about their record label, and to inspire

          3  them, and to basically let people know that they're

          4  out there.

          5                 The program gave their first

          6  performance at the Youth Channel block party this

          7  Summer, which was a great success. And they gave out

          8  about 500 T- shirts, one of which I'm wearing right

          9  now.  The program then concluded with a 30- minute

         10  documentary of the Summer program, which included

         11  their performance.  It's called the Diary of Lyrical

         12  Records, which will also be premiering on Youth

         13  Channel this Fall.

         14                 Also, which will be showing on Youth

         15  Channel, is Reel to Reel 2006, a compilation of

         16  music videos that they've created throughout the

         17  year.

         18                 It's important that community access

         19  television stays as a partner of SoBro, and any

         20  other organization that focuses on multi- media and

         21  social awareness, because it does create a great

         22  platform for the kids to get their voices heard.

         23                 The success is incredible when you

         24  see the smiles on their faces, and they go home and

         25  they're able to actually turn on their TV or log
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          2  onto the Internet.  A lot of kids do not have access

          3  to a lot of  --  they might not have access to

          4  Internet, but they do have access to cable, or

          5  possibly the other way around.

          6                 This multi-media platform is again, a

          7  great way for kids to just really sort of live out

          8  their dreams at a very young age, and sort of set

          9  goals for themselves.  I always tell them, a dream

         10  is just a  --  a goal is a dream with a deadline.

         11  So you know, with that, I hope that you continue to

         12  support all these mediums (sic) for kids to voice

         13  their  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you all

         15  very much.  There will be lots more time in the

         16  future for support.  And I thank you for being here

         17  today.  Thank you.

         18                 Our last panel is Chetro Sisnerose

         19  (phonetic) from looks like BRONXNET; Joyce Brown,

         20  from my neighborhood; Jonathan Piel, from CB8;

         21  Madelaine Piel, from CB8; and Jen Maegler, from

         22  Educational Video Center.

         23                 Good afternoon.  Go ahead.

         24                 MS. SISNEROSE: Good afternoon.  My

         25  name is Chetro Sisnerose.  And I'm the TV producer
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          2  from the BRONXNET.  I have worked experience with

          3  BRONXNET because they give you good opportunity for

          4  the whole community.  I was the first TV program in

          5  the BRONXNET since 1993.  And we need the cable   --

          6  we need the cable access because we educate the

          7  community.  My program is dedicated more for the

          8  Spanish people.  Because BRONXNET is really

          9  important, or cable access is really important to

         10  us, and in my program, we educate people like a how

         11  to vote, because most of the people, they don't know

         12  about that.  And we educating healthy, and we're

         13  educating in many different violent domestic that

         14  apply emphasize in that.  And also, I work with them

         15  and I produce a workshop for that also.

         16                 And thank you for BRONXNET, because

         17  now I have the big program all over the country.  So

         18  because the experience what I have in BRONXNET I

         19  have the program, it's going all over the United

         20  States, and still, we're going to the Spanish

         21  community.  So I'm  --  and also because the

         22  experience what I have in BRONXNET we receive a

         23  proclamation for the City Hall.  We have a lot of

         24   -- it's because we educate for most of the Spanish

         25  community programs.           CHAIRPERSON BREWER:
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          2  Thank you very much.  Who would like to speak next?

          3                 Board Eight?  Community Board Eight,

          4  are you ready?

          5                 Go Joyce Brown.

          6                 MS. BROWN: Apparently you know me.

          7  And as you said, my name is Joyce Brown.  Council

          8  Member Brewer is a   --  I'm a constituent.  Right?

          9  In here district.  Now she got me all nervous.

         10                 Okay.  I am here because I am a

         11  Manhattan Neighborhood Network producer.  And I'd

         12  like to remind everybody that we receive no money.

         13  In fact, it's a debit.  We have to pay for

         14  everything except instructions and use of equipment.

         15

         16                 We did have some producers problem at

         17  MNN.  We had lessons with last borough president.

         18  Now I have two series, a new one on health from the

         19  consumer's point of view.  I don't know if you've

         20  seen it, but you always get back about my programs.

         21  And it's what consumers don't know about.  They can

         22  change their doctors, preparing et cetera.  For

         23  their health.  You know.

         24                 Also I have had a program on housing

         25  for the last few years.  Which has increased.  I
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          2  went in there knowing nothing about housing, and

          3  went on to become one  --  asked to participate in

          4  the New York State Assembly Task Force on Mitchell

          5  Lama housing. Because of my statement during that

          6  housing committee meeting.

          7                 And this is because of becoming a

          8  producer on  -- at Neighborhood Networks and my

          9  efforts understanding what's going on.

         10                 Also, my housing issues include City

         11  Council meetings, about what is going on with the

         12  various agencies, and that Council Member who wanted

         13  to have information about housing. I would gladly

         14  give her a copy, only my time was limited, so we'd

         15  have to figure out logistics.  And I'm hoping to

         16  have my programs, as I mentioned to you about three

         17  years ago, to be translated into Spanish and

         18  Mandarin.  I just spoke to  --  one of the other

         19  speakers, she may be able to help me.

         20                 Okay?  I guess that's about all.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         22  much Joyce Brown. Community Board Number Eight.

         23                 MR. PIEL: Thank you Chairperson

         24  Brewer for this opportunity.  My name is Jonathan

         25  Piel.  Madelaine, my wife, and I are members of
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          2  Community Board Eight Communications Committee.  One

          3  of our main responsibilities is to produce CB8

          4  Speaks, Community Board Eight monthly cablecast on

          5  Manhattan Neighborhood Network.

          6                 CB8 Speaks brings to the Upper East

          7  Side and Roosevelt Island, as well as the hundreds

          8  of thousands of New Yorkers, news of how CB 8

          9  represents the interests of its constituents with

         10  respect to tenant and homeowner rights, public

         11  safety, and emergency preparedness.  As well as

         12  landmark preservation.  Episodes have focused on the

         13  construction of the Second Avenue Subway, and the

         14  new wing of the Whitney Museum, as well as on the

         15  battle over the future of the Seventh Regiment

         16  Armory

         17                 So we provide an important way for

         18  citizens to learn how they can use CB 8 and other

         19  community boards to protect their interests, making

         20  our City a better place in which to live.

         21                 As part of this responsibility, we

         22  bring to our viewers the faces and voices behind the

         23  news stories.  Members of this Council, Manhattan

         24  Borough Presidents past and present, as well as our

         25  representatives in the State Assembly and Senate
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          2  regularly appear on CB8 Speaks.

          3                 And all of this coverage, Community

          4  Board Eight Manhattan emerges as a force for

          5  reconciliation, a creator, and honest broker of

          6  solutions to the City's problems.

          7                 Clearly, public access television is

          8  a vital local medium of communication.  As good

          9  citizens of the local communities they serve, the

         10  telecommunications companies, in return for access

         11  to their markets, should be sure that these stations

         12  continue to receive the financial support they need

         13  to do their essential work.             Thank you

         14  very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         16  much.  Do you want to say something?  Okay.  Next.

         17                 MS. MEAGHER: Thanks for the

         18  opportunity to speak. My name is Jen Meagher, and I

         19  represent the Educational Video Center.  We're a 22-

         20  year old nonprofit youth media center.  We're

         21  located in Satellite Academy High School in

         22  Manhattan.

         23                 We offer free credit- bearing classes

         24  in documentary video production to high school

         25  students from all five boroughs. These are at- risk
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          2  youth.  These are youth who mostly come from

          3  alternative high schools, and have really had

          4  difficulty and have been very much under- served by

          5  the schools in the past.

          6                 Our students produce documentaries on

          7  critical social issues that they select and that

          8  they produce as a team. And these are aired on the

          9  Manhattan Neighborhood Youth Channel.

         10                 What this provides us is access to

         11  audience.  We're able to reach a size and diversity

         12  of audience that we otherwise could not do general

         13  public screenings.  Through their  --  the Youth

         14  Channel's open transmission film festival, it's one

         15  of the few venues that allows our students to see

         16  other youth media producers work from across the

         17  country and internationally.  There is no other

         18  archive like that of these media works that's

         19  accessible to us, even though there are other means

         20  of getting that.

         21                 They also provide us with access to

         22  vital content. It's a sort of freedom of speech

         23  issue, in terms of they're the only broadcaster in

         24  our community who reaches out to us, and shows our

         25  student's work in full, as they conceive it, so that
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          2  they are the producers of the work, and not just the

          3  passive subjects.

          4                 It also provides them a place to talk

          5  about critical social issues that affect their lives

          6  that they don't see in the media.  Things like teen

          7  dating violence, juvenile justice and immigration

          8  issues.  This is the forum for them to provide

          9  information to one another.  Peer to peer.

         10                 And so, if we  --  I believe that if

         11  we expect young people to resolve their problems, we

         12  need to provide them with the proper communication

         13  channels to do that.  To share important

         14  information, to shatter very negative stereotypes of

         15  youth in the media, and to restore a sense of pride

         16  and civic engagement through positive examples.

         17                 Youth Channel also supplements school

         18  curricula.  We work very closely.  We are in a

         19  public school building.  We work very closely with

         20  the public school high school teacher.  They provide

         21  these teachers with free award- winning, youth-

         22  produced documentaries, and educational programs for

         23  the classroom.

         24                 They also provide these schools with

         25  media literacy curriculum and production workshops
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          2  that these schools don't have the funding or the

          3  trained staff to provide.

          4                 And it makes one wonder how else were

          5  these students going to receive these critical 21st

          6  century literacy and production skills in order to

          7  enter the workforce.  Even though EVC provides

          8  workshops in digital video production, we always

          9  send our students to MNN in order to receive

         10  training in television production.  It's a whole new

         11  arena for them.  And there's no other facility in

         12  our borough that offers this to us.

         13                 The other thing that's important, is

         14  that after EVC, which is just one semester, our

         15  students are able to continue on as adult producers

         16  at MNN, so it doesn't just end at EVC.

         17                 So we please ask that you continue to

         18  support the Youth Channel.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you. Thank

         20  you all very much.  Before we conclude, I just  --

         21  go ahead.  I'm sorry.  I didn't know if you wanted

         22   --  go ahead.  Sorry.

         23                 MS. PIEL: Sorry.  I didn't know it

         24  wasn't on.  The red light is on when you  --  okay.

         25                 So I'm Madelaine Piel, and I am the
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          2  Moderator of Community Board Eight, which is a

          3  public access television show, which reaches many

          4  people in Manhattan because of our wonderful ability

          5  to be on the air, thanks to the guidance of many

          6  people who figure and the community at large, which

          7  informs our programming.

          8                 I'm here also as a producer for a

          9  show that we have called "Hello the Show", which

         10  interviews people who are poets, and writers, and

         11  anthropologists.  And people who live in the City of

         12  New York who communicate and provide wonderful

         13  information that is Secret to New York, something

         14  that we talked about earlier, the Secrets of New

         15  York.

         16                 What we have a problem with at MNN

         17  is,  --  and I'm sure this will change as the

         18  digital age changes  --  is our quality programming,

         19  which we are very careful to produce, and train

         20  people very well, is not put on channels by Time

         21  Warner that necessarily reflect the quality of our

         22  programming.  So often, you will see us in different

         23  colors, purple, green.  I mean martian colors.  And

         24  also the sound quality is up to that of the

         25  channels. And if somehow, the technology committee
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          2  could look into why we're getting second rate

          3  treatment on the air, it would be a very important

          4  factor, so that more of us would be encouraged to

          5  come forward and do more and better programming.

          6                 I mean, MNN and all of the different

          7  cable groups throughout the City of New York are

          8  remarkable.  We need to keep the funding from

          9  whoever is the franchise provider, because we are

         10  the public, and we are their consumers, and we

         11  should work hand in hand and we can develop more and

         12  better programming to answer questions on health

         13  care, and on real estate issues that affect every

         14  single New Yorker.  It's very important to get these

         15  messages out, and particularly to the youth, the

         16  training.  And the training for people in job

         17  markets who are being downsized.  Bring them in, get

         18  them trained.  Get them learning how to do

         19  something.  Work with CUNY, develop more

         20  partnerships so that we can all take advantage of

         21  what our City has to become in the 21st century.

         22  And I thank you for this hearing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Joyce, we have to

         24  be out  -- Joyce, we have to end.  Tell me

         25  afterwards.  Thank you very much. I know that this

                                                            134

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  has been a long morning, but I think what has come

          3  out of it is the breadth of possibilities in terms

          4  of training, all the way to broadcast.  There is a

          5  need, I think, for bringing together some of the

          6  different medium, so that if information is in one

          7  language, it can also be in another language.

          8  There's also a need, I think, to be able to improve

          9  on the content.  Obviously, the hardware and the

         10  software are part of that, and resources are part of

         11  that.  And we have a big national fight at our

         12  footsteps.

         13                 But I think, after listening to the

         14  incredible speakers today, from the members of the

         15  City Administration, to the people who produce

         16  locally, you can see, not just for the need for

         17  continuation, but for expansion and as we go to

         18  digital from analog, we'll have even more stations

         19  and more opportunities.

         20                 Thank you very much everyone, and we

         21  look forward to more discussion.  Thank you.

         22                 This hearing is now concluded.

         23

         24                 (The following written testimony was

         25  submitted for the record.)
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          2

          3

          4                 Written testimony of:

          5                 Josephine Infante

          6                 Executive Director, Hunts Point

          7  Economic Development Corporation

          8

          9                 Dear Madam, dear Sir:

         10                 This letter is to testify to the

         11  strength of our relationship with Bronx Net TV.

         12                 The Hunts Point Economic Development

         13  Corporation (HPEDC) was established in 1988 as a

         14  not- for- profit economic development corporation

         15  with the aim of improving and enhancing the diverse

         16  and challenging Hunt Point business environment.

         17  With a dynamic Board of Directors and staff

         18  professionals in economic development, urban

         19  planning, small business development and community

         20  revitalization. HPEDC provides an active, unified

         21  voice for this valuable New York City business

         22  community. Included in the mission of HPEDC is

         23  service provision for local businesses, the

         24  cultivation of entrepreneurship and the empowerment

         25  of local residents to participate in the local
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          2  economy.

          3                 At HPEDC, we have been working with

          4  BronxNet TV for many years, in a variety of formats:

          5  Since 2001, bronxNet TV has filmed our Chamber of

          6  Commerce meetings (6 meetings per year, an average

          7  of 500 attendees per year), rebroadcasting them

          8  Bronxwide, thus allowing us to significantly

          9  increase the exposure of our Chamber, which is an

         10  important networking forum for local businesses and

         11  community members. BronxNet TV has allowed us to

         12  participate in programs such as BronxTALK, which

         13  helped us reach wider audience for key programs such

         14  as our microenterprise development center. BronxNet

         15  TV has produced documentaries on Hunts Point,

         16  showcasing the dynamism of the Hunts Point industry

         17  and how it benefited the local community by creating

         18  more economic opportunities.

         19                 In summary, Bronx Net TV has been

         20  instrumental in helping our organization communicate

         21  and reach out to local community for all these

         22  programs that make such a difference locally. We

         23  strongly support BronxNet TV and want to help them

         24  in any way we can, so that they continue offering

         25  this essential service in our community.
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          2  Communication is everything, and BronxNet TV has

          3  risen to the challenge.

          4                 Sincerely, Josephine Infante,

          5  Executive Director

          6

          7                 Written testimony of:

          8                 Daniel Leone

          9                 Executive Director, Queens Public

         10  Television

         11                 QPTV (Queens Public Communications

         12  Corporation) is a not- for- profit private

         13  corporation serving the residents of Queens. QPTV

         14  manages four public access channels on the cable TV

         15  systems in Queens, under Franchise Agreements

         16  between the City of New York and the cable operators

         17  in the Borough.

         18                 Since it's inception in the early

         19  80's, QPTV has trained Borough residents who are

         20  interested in producing community television

         21  programs. QPTV cablecasts video programming and

         22  bulletin board information 365 days a year. The

         23  residents of Queens have become reliant on QPTV to

         24  deliver this diverse programming.

         25                 QPTV in its 24 plus years has
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          2  serviced hundreds of not- for- profit organizations

          3  that serve tens of thousands of community residents.

          4  By doing so, QPTV reaches beyond the 400,000 basic

          5  cable subscribers in Queens.

          6                 As our community changes each day,

          7  with diversity from around the globe, the one

          8  constant is the desire and need to communicate. The

          9  sharing of ideas, cultural traditions, and

         10  empowering information offers the residents of

         11  Queens an opportunity that is not only unique, but

         12  one that might not otherwise be found in mainstream

         13  media outlets.

         14                 The idea of community television was

         15  created in order to give people a voice. It's the

         16  modern day equivalent to the town crier on their

         17  soapbox. It's democracy at its finest.

         18                 QPTV faces many challenges including

         19  franchise renewals, changes in legislation and

         20  alternative delivery systems such as satellite

         21  television. The tools are constantly shifting and

         22  planning for the future is not easy. There will be

         23  complex decisions but with an enthusiastic community

         24  the future is promised.

         25                 QPTV hopes that continued support
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          2  will allow is to operate long into the future

          3  without any cutback of services to the public. QPTV

          4  strongly supports the current franchising system.

          5                 With that in mind, let us remain

          6  optimistic and welcome the opportunities ahead.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 1:00 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, JOAN GARCIA, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 14th day of September 2006.

         18
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         21
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         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          JOAN GARCIA
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          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, JOAN GARCIA, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              JOAN GARCIA
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